UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 8-K

CURRENT REPORT

Pursuant to Section 13 OR 15(d) of The Securities Exchange Act of 1934

Date of Report (Date of earliest event reported): December 13, 2022

HARROW HEALTH, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware (State or other jurisdiction of incorporation) **001-35814** (Commission File Number) 45-0567010 (IRS Employer Identification No.)

37205

(Zip Code)

102 Woodmont Blvd., Suite 610

Nashville, Tennessee

(Address of principal executive offices)

Registrant's telephone number, including area code: (615) 733-4730

Not Applicable

(Former Name or Former Address, if Changed Since Last Report)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class	Trading Symbol(s)	Name on exchange on which registered	
Common Stock, \$0.001 par value per share	HROW	The NASDAQ Global Market	
8.625% Senior Notes due 2026	HROWL	The NASDAQ Global Market	

Check the appropriate box below if the Form 8-K filing is intended to simultaneously satisfy the filing obligation of the registrant under any of the following provisions:

□ Written communications pursuant to Rule 425 under the Securities Act (17 CFR 230.425)

□ Soliciting material pursuant to Rule 14a-12 under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14a-12)

□ Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 14d-2(b) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14d-2(b))

□ Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 13e-4(c) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.13e-4(c))

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is an emerging growth company as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act of 1933 or Rule 12b-2 of the Securities Act of 1934: Emerging growth company \Box

If any emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. \Box

Item 1.01 Entry Into a Material Definitive Agreement.

On December 13, 2022, Harrow Health, Inc. along with its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Harrow IP, LLC and Harrow Eye, LLC (individually and together the "Company") entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement (the "Purchase Agreement") with Novartis Technology, LLC and Novartis Innovative Therapies AG (together, "Novartis"), pursuant to which the Company agreed to purchase from Novartis the exclusive commercial rights to assets associated with the following ophthalmic products (collectively the "Products") in the U.S. (the "Acquisition"): ILEVRO® (nepafenac ophthalmic suspension) 0.3%; NEVANAC® (nepafenac ophthalmic suspension) 0.1%; VIGAMOX® (moxifloxacin hydrochloride ophthalmic solution) 0.5%; MAXIDEX® (dexamethasone ophthalmic suspension) 0.1%; and TRIESENCE® (triamcinolone acetonide injectable suspension) 40 mg/ml.

Under the terms of the Purchase Agreement, the Company will make a one-time payment of \$130,000,000 at closing, with up to another \$45,000,000 due in a milestone payment related to the commercial availability of Triesence. The Acquisition is expected to close in the first quarter of 2023, subject to the satisfaction of customary closing conditions, including clearance under the Hart-Scott Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act. Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement and various ancillary agreements, immediately following the closing and subject to certain conditions, for a period that the Company expects to last approximately six months, and prior to the transfer of the Products new drug applications (the "NDAs") to the Company, Novartis will continue to sell the Products on the Company's behalf and transfer the net profit from the sale of the Products to the Company. Novartis has agreed to supply certain Products to the Company for a period of time after the NDAs are transferred to the Company and to assist with technology transfer of the Products manufacturing to other third-party manufacturers, if needed.

The foregoing is a summary description of certain terms of the Agreement, is not complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the text of the Agreement, which the Company has filed as an exhibit to this Current Report on Form 8-K.

Item 8.01 Other Events.

On December 14, 2022, the Company issued a press release announcing the Transaction. A copy of the press release is attached as Exhibit 99.1 to this Current Report on Form 8-K.

Item 9.01. Financial Statements and Exhibits.

(d) Exhibits

Item	Description
10.1	Asset Purchase Agreement dated December 13, 2022, between the Company and Novartis Technology, LLC and Novartis Innovative Therapies AG
99.1 104	Harrow Health Press Release dated December 14, 2022 Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document)

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned hereunto duly authorized.

HARROW HEALTH, INC.

Dated: December 14, 2022

By: /s/ Andrew R. Boll

Name: Andrew R. Boll Title: Chief Financial Officer

ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT

by and among

NOVARTIS TECHNOLOGY LLC and NOVARTIS INNOVATIVE THERAPIES AG

and

HARROW HEALTH, INC., HARROW EYE, LLC and HARROW IP, LLC

DATED AS OF December 13, 2022

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
ARTICLE 1	DEFINITIONS	2
1.1	Definitions	2
1.2		10
1.3	Interpretive Provisions	11
ARTICLE 2	SALE AND TRANSFER OF ASSETS	12
2.1	Purchase and Sale of Transferred Assets	12
2.2	No Transfer of Certain Assets	14
2.3	Risk of Loss	14
ARTICLE 3	ASSUMED LIABILITIES AND EXCLUDED LIABILITIES	14
3.1	Assignment and Assumption of Assumed Liabilities	14
3.2	Excluded Liabilities	15
ARTICLE 4	GRANT OF LICENSES	15
4.1	Grant of Licenses	15
4.1	Reservation of Rights	15
4.2	Restriction to Territory	17
ч.5	Resultion to Territory	17
ARTICLE 5	PAYMENTS	17
5.1	Consideration	17
5.2	Additional Consideration	18
5.3	Taxes	19
ARTICLE 6	THE CLOSING	19
· IIIIIICEE 0		~
6.1	Closing	19
6.2	Deliverables	20
ARTICLE 7	REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF NOVARTIS	21
71	Onequiration Overlification	21
7.1 7.2	Organization; Qualification Authority; Enforceability	21 21
7.2	No Violations; Consents	21
7.3	Litigation	21
7.5	Debarred Personnel	22
7.6	Title to Assets	22
7.7	Intellectual Property	22
7.8	Compliance with Applicable Law	23
7.9	Exclusivity of Representations	23

ii

ARTICLE 8 REPRESENTATIONS	AND WARRANTIES OF PURCHASER

	8.1	Organization; Qualification	24
	8.2	Authority; Enforceability	24
	8.3	No Violations; Consents	25
	8.4	Litigation	25
	8.5	Debarred Personnel	25
	8.6	Availability of Funds	25
	8.7	Compliance with Applicable Law	26
	8.8	No Knowledge of Misrepresentation or Omission	26
	8.9	Independent Assessment; No Inducement or Reliance	27
	8.10	Exclusivity of Representations	27
1 DELGI			
ARTICL	E 9 CO	VENANTS	27
	0.1		07
	9.1	Conduct of Business	27
	9.2	Antitrust Laws	28
	9.3	Confidentiality	30
	9.4	Press Releases	31
	9.5	Novartis Names and Marks	31
	9.6	Pharmacovigilance Agreement; Other Obligations	31
	9.7	Transferring of Product NDAs	32
	9.8	Maintenance of Product NDAs Pending Notification of Transfer to the FDA	32
	9.9	Recordations and Filings	32
	9.10	Authorized Generic Agreement	32
	9.11	Transferred Website	33
	9.12	Accounts Receivable and Payable	33
	9.13	Wrong Pockets Transfer of Books and Records	33 34
	9.14 9.15		34 34
	9.15	Preservation of Records; Novartis' Access	34 34
	9.16	Cooperation in Litigation and Investigations Further Assurances	34
	9.17	ruiner Assurances	33
ARTICI	E 10 CC	NDITIONS TO CLOSING	35
ARTICL			35
	10.1	Conditions to Both Parties' Obligations to Close	35
	10.1	Conditions to Purchaser's Obligations to Close	35
	10.3	Conditions to Novartis' Obligations to Close	36
	10.5		50
ARTICL	.Е 11 ТЕ	RMINATION	36
	11.1	Termination	36
	11.1	Effect of Termination	30
	11.4		51

ARTICLE 12 II	NDEMNIFICATION; SURVIVAL	38
12.1	Survival	38
12.2	Indemnification by Novartis	38
12.3	Indemnification by Purchaser	38
12.4	Limitations on Amounts of Losses	39
12.5	Other Limitations on Indemnification	40
12.6	Procedures	40
12.7	Tax Treatment	41
12.8	Exclusive Remedy	41
12.9	No Setoff Rights	42
ARTICLE 13 N	AISCELLANEOUS	42
13.1	Expenses	42
13.2	Waiver and Amendment	42
13.3	Entire Agreement	42
13.4	Headings	42
13.5	Notices	42
13.6	Binding Effect; Assignment	43
13.7	No Third Party Beneficiary	44
13.8	Counterparts	44
13.9	Force Majeure	44
13.10	Governing Law and Jurisdiction	44
13.11	WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL	44
13.12	Severability	45
13.13	Specific Performance	45
13.14	Relationship of the Parties	45
13.15	Extension to Affiliates	45
13.16	English Language	45
13.17	Construction	46
13.18	No Recourse Against Nonparty Affiliates	46
13.19	Novartis Disclosure Schedule	46

iv

List of Annexes

Annex 1.1(a)	_	Domain Names
Annex 1.1(b)	_	Drug Substance
Annex 1.1(c)	_	Purchaser Knowledge Parties
Annex 1.1(d)	_	Novartis Knowledge Parties
Annex 1.1(e)	_	Trademarks
Annex 1.1(f)	_	Product NDAs
Annex 1.1(g)	_	Transferred Agreements
Annex 5.1(c)	_	Purchase Price Allocation

List of Exhibits

Exhibit A-Bill of Sale & Assignment and Assumption AgreementExhibit B-Press Release

List of Simultaneously Executed Agreements

Alcon Sublicense Agreement Commercial Agreement Domain Name and Website Assignment Agreement License Agreement Patent Assignment Agreement Supply Agreement Transition Services Agreement

ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT

This ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT (this "Agreement") is made as of this 13th day of December, 2022, by and among (i) Novartis Technology LLC ("NTLLC"), a limited liability company organized under the laws of the State of Delaware and having its principal place of business at One Health Plaza, East Hanover, New Jersey, 07936, Novartis Innovative Therapies AG, a company organized under the laws of Switzerland and having its principal place of business at Suurstoffi 14, 6343 Rotkreuz, Switzerland ("NOAG" and NOAG and NTLLC being collectively referred to as "Novartis") and (ii) Harrow Health, Inc., a corporation formed under the laws of Delaware and located at 102 Woodmont Blvd. Suite 610, Nashville, Tennessee 37205 ("Harrow Health"), Harrow Eye, LLC, a limited liability company formed under the laws of Delaware and located at 102 Woodmont Blvd. Suite 610, Nashville, Suite 610, Nashville, Tennessee 37205 ("Harrow IP, LLC, a limited liability company formed under the laws of Delaware and located at 102 Woodmont Blvd. Suite 610, Nashville, Tennessee 37205 ("Harrow IP, LLC, a limited liability company formed under the laws of Delaware and located at 102 Woodmont Blvd. Suite 610, Nashville, Tennessee 37205 ("Harrow IP") (Harrow Health, Harrow Eye and Harrow IP being collectively referred to as "Purchaser"). Novartis and Purchaser are each referred to individually as a "Party" and together as the "Parties".

RECITALS

WHEREAS, Novartis and its Affiliates sell, market, distribute, manufacture, and otherwise commercialize, by themselves or through Third Parties, the Drug Substances and the Products in the Territory;

WHEREAS, Novartis desires to sell, transfer, assign, convey and deliver to Purchaser, and Purchaser desires to purchase from Novartis, the Transferred Assets, and Novartis desires to assign to Purchaser and Purchaser desires to assume from Novartis the Assumed Liabilities, all upon and subject to the terms and conditions hereinafter specified;

WHEREAS, Novartis and/or its Affiliates own intellectual property and technology related to the Drug Substances and the Products in the Territory, separate from the Transferred Assets, and they are willing to grant Purchaser certain rights to such intellectual property and technology as set forth herein and in the License Agreement; and

WHEREAS, in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, the Parties and/or their respective Affiliates desire to enter into the Ancillary Agreements, and Novartis is willing to provide certain services involving the supply of the Products in the Territory for a transition period as set forth in this Agreement and the Supply Agreement.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the respective representations, warranties, covenants, and agreements contained herein, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1 DEFINITIONS

1.1 Definitions. The following terms, whenever used herein, shall have the following meanings for all purposes of this Agreement.

Polymers."

"295 Patent" means U.S. Patent 7,947,295, entitled "Ophthalmic Compositions containing a Synergistic Combination of Two

"Act" means the U.S. Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

"Adverse Event" means any untoward medical occurrence in a patient or clinical investigation subject administered a pharmaceutical product and that does not necessarily have a causal relationship with the treatment. An adverse event can therefore be any unfavorable and unintended sign (including an abnormal laboratory finding), symptom or disease temporally associated with the use of a medicinal product, whether or not related to the medicinal product.

"Affiliate" means, with respect to a Party, any Person that, directly or indirectly, controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with that Party. For the purpose of this definition, "control" or "controlled" means, direct or indirect, ownership of fifty percent (50%) or more of the shares of stock entitled to vote for the election of directors in the case of a corporation or fifty percent (50%) or more of the equity interest in the case of any other type of legal entity; status as a general partner in any partnership; or any other arrangement whereby the entity or Person controls or has the right to control the board of directors or equivalent governing body of a corporation or other entity or the ability to cause the direction of the management or policies of a corporation or other entities organized under the laws of certain countries where the maximum percentage ownership permitted by Law for a foreign investor is less than fifty percent (50%), and in such cases such lower percentage shall be substituted in the preceding sentence; provided, that such foreign investor has the power to direct the management and policies of such entity while owning, directly or indirectly, such lower percentage.

"Alcon Sublicense Agreement" means the Alcon Sublicense Agreement entered into between Purchaser and Novartis (or one or more of its Affiliates) on the date hereof and effective as of the Closing Date.

"Ancillary Agreements" means the Alcon Sublicense Agreement, Bill of Sale & Assignment and Assumption Agreement, the Commercial Agreement, the Domain Name and Website Assignment Agreement, the License Agreement, the Patent Assignment Agreement, the Supply Agreement, the Transition Services Agreement and each other agreement or certificate to be delivered by any Party hereto at the Closing contemplated hereby.

"Antitrust Authorities" means the Federal Trade Commission, the Antitrust Division of the United States Department of Justice, the attorneys general of the several states of the United States and any other Governmental Entity having jurisdiction with respect to the transactions contemplated hereby pursuant to applicable Antitrust Laws.

"Antitrust Laws" means any Laws applicable to Novartis and Purchaser under any applicable jurisdiction that are designed or intended to prohibit, restrict, or regulate actions having the purpose or effect of monopolization or restraint of trade.

"Authorization" means any consent, authorization, approval, order, license, certification, or permit of or from, or declaration or filing with, any Governmental Entity, including any required filing with any Governmental Entity and the subsequent expirations of any required waiting period under any Antitrust Law.

"Bill of Sale & Assignment and Assumption Agreement" means the Bill of Sale & Assignment and Assumption Agreement entered into between Purchaser and Novartis (or one or more of its Affiliates) as of the Closing Date in the form attached as <u>Exhibit A</u>.

"Business Day" means a day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or a public holiday) on which the banks are open for business in Basel, Switzerland and New York, New York, United States.

"Closing Date" means the date on which Closing actually occurs.

"Commercial Agreement" means the Commercial Agreement entered into between Purchaser and Novartis (or one or more of its Affiliates) on the date hereof and effective as of the Closing Date.

"Commercial Information" means marketing, advertising, and promotional and similar information, including sales and customer information, that is existing, owned, and used by Novartis and in Novartis' possession as of the Closing Date, for the commercialization of any of the Products in the Territory, excluding (a) the Novartis Names and Marks, (b) any information that cannot be transferred or otherwise disclosed pursuant to applicable Law, and (c) any information that is covered by confidentiality obligations in respect of a Third Party for which Novartis has not obtained such Third Party's consent (provided, however, that Novartis shall use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain the consent of any relevant Third Party).

"Confidentiality Agreement" means that certain confidentiality agreement entered into between Novartis and Purchaser or any of their respective Affiliates on 20 January 2022, as amended from time to time.

"Domain Name and Website Assignment Agreement" means the Domain Name and Website Assignment Agreement entered into between Purchaser and Novartis (or one or more of its Affiliates) on the date hereof and effective as of the Closing Date.

"Drug Substance" means:

0.3%,

(a) in respect of Ilevro, the active pharmaceutical ingredient nepafenac, which is present in the finished product in a dosage strength of

(b) in respect of Maxidex, the active pharmaceutical ingredient dexamethasone, which is present in the finished product in a dosage strength of 0.1%,

(c) in respect of Nevanac, the active pharmaceutical ingredient nepafenac, which is present in the finished product in a dosage strength of

0.1%,

(d) in respect of Triesence, the active pharmaceutical ingredient triamcinolone acetonide, which is present in the finished product in a dosage strength of 40 mg/ml, and

(e) in respect of Vigamox, the active pharmaceutical ingredient moxifloxacin hydrochloride, which is present in the finished product in a dosage strength of 0.5% equivalents (base),

in each case having the chemical structure set forth in Annex 1.1(b).

"Encumbrance" means any encumbrance, claim, charge, hypothecation, lien, license, mortgage, pledge, easement, defect in title, restrictive covenant, option, right of first refusal, or security interest of any kind.

"Excluded Agreements" means all agreements of Novartis or its Affiliates except for the Transferred Agreements.

"Ex-Territory Product" means each branded product containing any Drug Substance, in any dosage strength or form, which is marketed and sold by Novartis, its Affiliates, any of their service providers and/or Other Partners under trademarks, which include the tradenames ILEVRO, MAXIDEX, NEVANAC, TRIESENCE or VIGAMOX and an equivalent of an NDA in any jurisdiction outside of the United States for such branded products outside the Territory.

"FDA" means the United States Food and Drug Administration.

"Force Majeure" means any event which is beyond the reasonable control of the Party affected, including the following events: earthquake, storm, flood, fire or other acts of nature, epidemic, war, riot, public disturbance, strike or lockouts, government actions, terrorist attack, or the like.

"Fraud" means actual and intentional fraud with respect to the making of the representations and warranties pursuant to <u>ARTICLE 7</u> or <u>ARTICLE 8</u> (as applicable); provided, that such actual and intentional fraud shall only be deemed to exist if, and the Party asserting or relying on the occurrence of such actual and intentional fraud shall satisfy its burden of proof of establishing by a preponderance of the evidence that, any of the individuals identified in <u>Annex 1.1(c)</u> (in the case of an assertion by Purchaser) or any of the individuals identified in <u>Annex 1.1(d)</u> (in the case of an assertion by Novartis), or their predecessors, had actual knowledge (as opposed to imputed or constructive knowledge) that the representations and warranties made by a Party pursuant to, in the case of Novartis, <u>ARTICLE 7</u>, or, in the case of Purchaser, <u>ARTICLE 8</u>, were actually breached when made, and that such breach was committed with the express intention and purpose that the other Party be deceived and rely thereon to its detriment.

"Governmental Entity" means any court, agency, authority, department, legislative or regulatory body, or other instrumentality of any government or country or of any national, federal, state, provincial, regional, county, city, or other political subdivision of any such government or any supranational organization of which any such country is a member or quasi-governmental authority or self-regulatory organization of competent authority.

"HSR Act" means the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended, and the rules and regulations thereunder.

"Ilevro" means the pharmaceutical product containing the active ingredient nepafenac present in a dosage strength of 0.3% sold under the brand name Ilevro as marketed and sold by Novartis and/or its Affiliates under the relevant Product NDAs in the Territory as of the date hereof.

"Inventory" means all stock of Materials, Drug Substances, and/or Products that are solely maintained, held, or stored by or on behalf of Novartis or its Affiliates for the sale, distribution, and commercialization of the Products as of the Closing Date.

"Know-How" means all existing and available technical information, know-how, and data, including inventions (whether patentable or not), discoveries, trade secrets, specifications, instructions, processes, formulae, materials, and other technology related to the Products or to their manufacture, registration, use, or commercialization and including all biological, chemical, pharmacological, biochemical, toxicological, pharmaceutical, physical, safety, quality control, preclinical, and clinical data relating to the Products in the Territory, and that is in existence, reasonably accessible, owned by, and available to Novartis and/or its Affiliates on the Closing Date, but specifically excluding NDA Data, Commercial Information, and Medical Information.

"Knowledge" means, with respect to Purchaser, the actual knowledge of the individuals listed in <u>Annex 1.1(c)</u>, and with respect to Novartis, the actual knowledge of any of the employees of Novartis listed in <u>Annex 1.1(d)</u> as well as the knowledge that any such individual would have obtained through due inquiry into the relevant matter.

"Law" means any statute, law, treaty, judgment, ordinance, requirement, decree, regulatory rule, administrative interpretation, code, order, or other requirement having the force of law of any Governmental Entity.

"Liability" or "Liabilities" means any and all debts, liabilities, expenses, and obligations, of any nature or kind whether accrued or fixed, absolute or contingent, matured or unmatured, or determined or determinable, including product liability, and, more generally, any liability arising under any Law, action, or governmental order, injunction, or decree and any liability arising under any contract or undertaking.

"License Agreement" means the License Agreement entered into between Purchaser and Novartis (or one or more of its Affiliates) on the date hereof and effective as of the Closing Date.

"Licensed IP" means the Licensed Trademarks and the Know-How other than the Transferred IP.

"Licensed Trademarks" means those registered trademarks and pending trademark applications in the Territory listed in <u>Annex 1.1(e)</u> under the heading "Licensed Trademarks", including all goodwill associated therewith.

"Loss" means any and all direct and foreseeable damage, loss, Liability, and expense actually incurred by a Party, including reasonable attorney's fees and expenses in connection with any action, suit, or proceeding, whether involving a Third-Party Claim or a claim solely between the Parties; provided, however, Losses shall not include any special, punitive, consequential, or indirect damages or any similar damages or damages based upon diminution in value or any valuation multiplier unless actually paid to a Third Party as a result of a Third-Party Claim.

"Material Adverse Effect" means a change, effect, event, occurrence, or development that, individually or in the aggregate, is, or could reasonably be expected to become, materially adverse to the condition of the Transferred Assets and the Licensed IP, taken as a whole, or to the Purchased Business or the ability of Novartis to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby on a timely basis, or to any of the Product NDAs; provided, however, that none of the following changes, effects, events, occurrences, or developments shall be deemed either alone or in combination to constitute, and none of following shall be taken into account in determining whether there has been or will be, a Material Adverse Effect: (a) any adverse effect, event, occurrence, or development attributable to changes in conditions generally affecting (i) the pharmaceutical industry or (ii) the economy, financial, or securities markets or political, legislative, or regulatory conditions, taken as a whole, except in the case of effects referenced in clauses (i) or (ii), for effects that, taken as a whole, disproportionately impact the Products, as compared to similar pharmaceutical products, (b) any adverse effect caused by the entry into this Agreement, announcement of this Agreement, and the pendency of the transactions contemplated hereby, (c) any adverse effect due to acts of war, armed hostility, or terrorism, (d) any adverse effect due to actions or inactions taken by Novartis or any of its Affiliates in the performance of its obligations under this Agreement, (e) any adverse effect due to any claims or actions or government or other investigations pending as of the date hereof, disclosed in <u>Section 1.1(a)</u> of the Novartis Disclosure Schedule, or (f) any effect or change resulting from any action by, the identity of, or any facts or circumstances directly related to Purchaser.

"Materials" means any materials or components used in the manufacture of any of the Products, including: (a) raw ingredients, (b) intermediates, (c) excipients, (d) processing aids, (e) active ingredients, including the Drug Substances, (f) bulk drug product, and (g) packaging and labelling materials and components (including printed and non-printed components therefor).

"Maxidex" means the pharmaceutical product containing the active ingredient dexamethasone present in a dosage strength of 0.1% sold under the brand name Maxidex as marketed and sold by Novartis and/or its Affiliates under the relevant Product NDAs in the Territory as of the date hereof.

"Medical Information" means information solely and exclusively relating to the Drug Substances or the Products in the Territory, existing, owned, and used by Novartis or any of its Affiliates, and in Novartis' possession as of the Closing Date, including clinical and technical matters, such as therapeutic uses for the approved indications, drug-disease information, and other product characteristics.

"NDA" means (a) a New Drug Application, as defined in the Act, and (b) all supplements and amendments that may be filed with respect

thereto.

"NDA Data" means the existing readily available dossiers in Novartis' possession as of the Closing Date containing the Know-How actually used by Novartis and/or its Affiliates to obtain and maintain the Product NDAs in the Territory.

"NDA Transfer Date" means, with regard to a particular Product NDA, the date identified by Purchaser or Purchaser's Affiliate or designate in its submission to the FDA under 21 C.F.R. §314.72(a)(2) as the date on which the change in ownership of the Product NDA is effective.

"Nevanac" means the pharmaceutical product containing the active ingredient nepafenac present in a dosage strength of 0.1% sold under the brand name Nevanac as marketed and sold by Novartis and/or its Affiliates under the relevant Product NDAs in the Territory as of the date hereof.

"Novartis Fundamental Representations" means the representations and warranties set forth in Section 7.1, Section 7.2, Section 7.6, and Section 7.7(a) and 7.7(e).

"Other Partners" means any Third Party to which Novartis and/or its Affiliates have sold any of the Products to outside the Territory or Third Parties to which Novartis and/or its Affiliates may sell any of the Products to outside the Territory in the future.

"Patent Assignment Agreement" means the Patent Assignment Agreement entered into between Purchaser and Novartis (or one or more of its Affiliates) on the date hereof and effective as of the Closing Date.

"**Patents**" means (a) pending patent applications, issued patents, utility models, and designs, (b) reissues, substitutions, confirmations, registrations, validations, re-examinations, additions, continuations, continued prosecution applications, continuations-in-part, or division of or to any of the foregoing, (c) any other patent application claiming priority to any of the foregoing anywhere in the world, and (d) extension, renewal, or restoration of any of the foregoing by existing or future extension, renewal, or restoration mechanics, including supplementary protection certificates or the equivalent thereof.

"Permitted Encumbrance" means (a) any Encumbrance for Taxes, assessments, and other governmental charges that are not yet due and payable, (b) with respect to licenses, permits, or contracts, any restrictions, obligations, limitations, or other Encumbrances contained in such license, permit, or contract or existing at Law or under the regulatory regime pursuant to which such license, permit, or contracts is granted that do not materially impair the current use of the Drug Substances, the Products, the Transferred Assets, or the Licensed IP, individually or in the aggregate, or (c) with respect to a NDA, in respect of the Products, any restrictions, obligations, limitations, or other Encumbrances contained in such NDA or existing at Law or under the regulatory regime pursuant to which such NDA is granted that do not materially impair the current use of the Drug Substances, the Products, the Transferred Assets, or the Licensed IP, individually or in the aggregate.

"Person" means any individual, partnership, limited liability company, firm, corporation, association, trust, unincorporated organization, or other entity.

"Pharmacovigilance Agreement" means the Pharmacovigilance Agreement to be entered into by Purchaser and Novartis (or one or more of its Affiliates) in accordance with <u>Section 9.6</u>.

"Phase 1 Period" has the meaning given to it in the Supply Agreement.

"Phase 2 Period" has the meaning given to it in the Supply Agreement.

"Products" means each of Ilevro, Maxidex, Nevanac, Triesence and Vigamox (and "Product" shall mean any of them).

"Product IP" means the Transferred IP or the Licensed IP, or both, as the context admits.

"**Product Liability Claim**" means any suit, legal proceeding, arbitration proceeding, or any other claim for monetary or equitable relief asserted by a Third Party arising out of the sale or use of the Drug Substances or the Products, including: (a) claims that arise from, relate to or are in connection with injury or death to a human being claimed to have occurred as a result of the use of the Drug Substances or the Products, whether premised on allegations of design or manufacturing defect, negligence, failure to provide an adequate warning, breach of express or implied warranty, or any other legal theory, (b) claims that a Third Party was induced to purchase a Drug Substance or a Product based on false or misleading representations or purchased or used a Product for uses other than those indicated in the applicable Product's labelling as approved by the FDA or other Regulatory Authority, (c) claims that the sale of the Drug Substances or the Products created a public nuisance, or (d) claims premised on regulatory action or voluntary action involving the Drug Substances or the Products, such as recalls or withdrawal of the Products from the market.

"Product NDAs" means the NDAs set forth on Annex 1.1(f).

"Product Purchase Price" means, for each Product, the Purchase Price allocated to such Product, as set forth on Annex 5.1(c).

"Purchased Business" means Novartis' business related to the Products.

"Purchaser Fundamental Representations" means the representations and warranties set forth in Section 8.1, Section 8.2, and Section

<u>8.9</u>.

Patent.

"Records" means the books, record, files, and other documentation of Novartis and/or its Affiliates as of the Closing Date, or pertinent portions thereof, in each case to the extent solely and exclusively related to the Products in the Territory, to the extent owned, maintained, and in the possession or control of Novartis or any of its Affiliates as of the Closing Date.

"**Regulatory Authority**" means any Governmental Entity responsible for granting an NDA or an equivalent of an NDA in any jurisdiction outside of the United States for the Products, including the FDA, any successor entity thereto, and any corresponding national or regional regulatory authorities.

"Representatives" means, with respect to any Person, the directors, officers, employees, managers, members, partners, equity holders, agents, consultants, advisors (including legal counsel, accountants, and financial advisors), and representatives of such Person.

"Supply Agreement" means the Supply Agreement entered into between Purchaser and Novartis (or one or more of its Affiliates) on the date hereof and effective as of the Closing Date.

"Tax" means all U.S. federal, state and local, and non-U.S. taxes and assessments, including all interest, penalties, and additions with respect thereto.

"Territory" means the United States of America, including its territories and possessions.

"Third Party" means any Person other than a Party or any Affiliate of a Party.

"Transferred Agreements" means the agreements listed in Annex 1.1(g).

"Transferred Domain Name" means that certain domain name listed in Annex 1.1(a) under the heading "Transferred Domain Name".

"**Transferred IP**" means (a) the Transferred Patents, the Transferred Domain Name, the Transferred Website (and any and all intellectual property rights in and to the foregoing), and (b) Commercial Information, Medical Information, Records, and NDA Data (and any and all intellectual property rights in and to the foregoing), in each case in this clause (b), to the extent relating solely and exclusively to the Products in the Territory, and in each case that are in existence as of the Closing Date, but not including any of the Licensed IP.

"Transferred Patents" means U.S. Patent Nos. 7834059, 8071648, 8128960, 8211880, 8324281, 8921337, 9662398, and the '295

"Transferred Website" means the website bearing the domain name www.ilevrohcp.com.

"Transition Services Agreement" means the Transition Services Agreement entered into between Purchaser and Novartis (or one or more of its Affiliates) on the date hereof and effective as of the Closing Date.

"Triesence" means the pharmaceutical product containing the active ingredient triamcinolone acetonide present in a dosage strength of 40 mg/ml sold under the brand name Triesence as marketed and sold by Novartis and/or its Affiliates under the relevant Product NDAs in the Territory as of the date hereof.

"Triesence Commercial Batch Release" means completion of the commercial scale production and release by Novartis of a commercial scale batch of Triesence.

"U.S." or "United States" means the United States of America, including all possessions and territories thereof.

"Vigamox" means the pharmaceutical product containing the active ingredient moxifloxacin hydrochloride present in a dosage strength of 0.5% equivalents (base) sold under the brand name Vigamox as marketed and sold by Novartis and/or its Affiliates under the relevant Product NDAs in the Territory as of the date hereof.

1.2 Other Capitalized Terms. The following terms shall have the meanings specified in the indicated section of this Agreement:

<u>Term</u>	<u>Reference</u>
Additional Consideration	5.2(a)
Agreement	Preamble
Assumed Liabilities	3.1
Claim Notice	12.6(b)
Closing	6.1
Confidential Information	9.3
Contracting Party	13.18
Divestiture	9.2(d)(ii)
Excluded Assets	2.1(b)
Excluded Liabilities	3.2
Indemnified Party	12.6(b)
Indemnifying Party	12.6(b)
Initial Purchase Price	5.1(a)(i)
Nonparty Affiliates	13.18
Novartis Disclosure Schedule	7
Novartis Indemnified Parties	12.3
Novartis Names and Marks	9.5
Parties	Preamble
Party	Preamble
Purchase Price	5.1(a)(ii)
Purchaser	Preamble
Purchaser Disclosure Schedule	8
Purchaser Indemnified Parties	12.2
Qualifying Loss	12.4(c)
Termination Date	11.1(b)
Third-Party Claim	12.6(b)
Transfer Taxes	5.3(a)
Transferred Assets	2.1(a)
Warranty Breach	12.4(c)

1.3 Interpretive Provisions. Unless the express context otherwise requires:

(a) the words "hereof," "herein," and "hereunder" and words of similar import, when used in this Agreement, shall refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular provision of this Agreement;

(b) terms defined in the singular shall have a comparable meaning when used in the plural, and vice versa;

(c) the terms "Dollars" and "\$" mean United States Dollars;

(d) references herein to a specific Section, Article, Recital, Schedule, Annex, or Exhibit shall refer, respectively, to Sections, Articles, Recitals, Schedules, Annexes, or Exhibits of this Agreement;

(e) wherever the word "include," "includes," or "including" is used in this Agreement, it shall be deemed to be followed by the words "without limitation";

(f) references herein to any gender shall include each other gender;

(g) with respect to the determination of any period of time, the word "from" means "from and including" and the words "to" and "until" each means "to but excluding," and if any date that is determined is not a Business Day, then such date shall be determined to fall on the first Business Day following such date;

(h) references herein to any Law or any license mean such Law or license as amended, modified, codified, reenacted, supplemented, or superseded, in whole or in part, and in effect, as of the time at which such Law or license is referenced;

(i) references herein to any Law shall be deemed also to refer to all rules and regulations promulgated thereunder;

(j) references to any agreement or contract are to that agreement or contract as amended, modified, or supplemented from time to time in accordance with the terms thereof;

(k) "extent" in the phrase "to the extent" means the degree to which a subject or other thing extends, and such phrase does not mean simply "if";

(l) any documents or materials referred to herein as being "made available" to Purchaser shall have been provided to Purchaser or its counsel at least one (1) Business Day prior to the date hereof; and

(m) a Party includes its permitted assignees and/or the respective successors in title to substantially the whole of its undertaking.

ARTICLE 2 SALE AND TRANSFER OF ASSETS

2.1 Purchase and Sale of Transferred Assets

(a) *Transferred Assets*. At the Closing, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, including <u>Section 2.1(b)</u> and <u>Section 2.2</u>, Novartis shall, and shall cause its Affiliates to, sell, transfer, assign, convey, and deliver to Purchaser, and Purchaser shall purchase and accept from Novartis, free and clear of any and all Encumbrances, except for Permitted Encumbrances, if any, all of Novartis' right, title, and interest in, to, and under the following assets, solely to the extent that they relate exclusively to the Products in the Territory (the "**Transferred Assets**"):

(i) the Product NDAs;

(ii) the Transferred IP; and

(iii) the Transferred Agreements.

(b) *Excluded Assets*. Notwithstanding <u>Section 2.1(a)</u>, nothing herein contained shall be deemed to sell, transfer, assign, convey, or deliver to Purchaser, and Novartis (and its Affiliates, as applicable) shall retain all right, title, and interest in, to, and under the following assets (the "**Excluded Assets**"):

(i) the assets that relate to (A) any Ex-Territory Product, (B) any active product ingredient other than the Drug Substances, (C) any variant of any the Drug Substances, including as to dosage strength or form, or (D) any product other than the Products in the Territory;

(ii) the Inventory (which shall be purchased by Purchaser in separate transactions subject to and in accordance with the terms and conditions contained in the Supply Agreement);

(iii) subject to the license rights granted to Purchaser in the License Agreement, the Licensed IP;

(iv) the Novartis Names and Marks and any trademark, service mark, trade dress, logo, trade name, or corporate name similar or related thereto;

(v) all accounts receivable, cash, and pre-paid expenses, whether or not relating to the Drug Substances, the Products or the Transferred Assets for the period prior to the Closing Date (including payments received with respect thereto on or after the Closing Date);

(vi) any real property and leaseholds (together with all fixtures and fittings related to any property), physical plant, machinery, equipment, supplies, motor vehicles, and laboratory or office equipment;

(vii) the global safety database relating to the Products and source documents associated with individual case

safety reports;

(viii) any rights or assets, including those with the same Drug Substances of the Products, belonging to the generic business of Sandoz (which is the generic division of Novartis) or any of its successors, including for the avoidance of doubt any rights to the authorized generic version of Vigamox sold by Sandoz in the Territory;

(ix) any rights for countries outside the Territory;

(x) any Excluded Agreements;

(xi) any employees of Novartis and its Affiliates;

(xii) any rights in the Territory relating to new combinations of any of the Drug Substances or any of the Products with one or more other active ingredient or device;

(xiii) any rights under Novartis' insurance policies, whether or not related to the Drug Substances, the Products, or

the Transferred Assets;

(xiv) originals of books and records that Novartis and its Affiliates are required to retain pursuant to any Law, subject to Section 9.14;

(xv) any books and records relating to employees of Novartis and/or its Affiliates;

(xvi) any books and records that comprise Novartis' or any of its Affiliates' accounting or Tax records;

(xvii) all refunds, claims for refunds, or rights to receive refunds from any Governmental Entity with respect to any and all Taxes paid or to be paid by Novartis or any of its Affiliates (including any and all Taxes paid or to be paid by any of Novartis' Affiliates on behalf of Novartis);

(xviii) all rights of Novartis arising under this Agreement or from the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby; and

(xix) all other assets, properties, rights, and interests of Novartis and its Affiliates not described in Section 2.1(a).

2.2 No Transfer of Certain Assets.

(a) The Parties acknowledge and agree that, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, in no event shall this Agreement be interpreted as a transfer of, nor shall it require the transfer, assignment, or assumption of, by either Party, any rights or obligations, if the transferring party, or its Affiliates, do not have the right to transfer such rights and obligations or if such transfer, assignment, or assumption would be in violation of applicable Law.

(b) The Parties acknowledge and agree that, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, Novartis and its Affiliates will not be obliged to sell, transfer, assign, convey, deliver, exercise or grant any licenses (under <u>Section 4.1</u> or otherwise), or perform any activities, and Purchaser will not be obliged to purchase, accept, exercise or grant any license rights (under <u>Section 4.1</u> or otherwise) and will not perform any activities, related to any of the Transferred Assets and/or the Licensed IP to the extent such Transferred Assets and/or the Licensed IP relate to countries that are, as of the date hereof, subject to comprehensive U.S. trade sanctions (meaning country-wide sanctions not limited to specific sectors or parties) administered by the U.S. Treasury Department's Office of Foreign Assets Control.

2.3 <u>Risk of Loss</u>. Title and risk of loss or damage to the Transferred Assets shall pass to Purchaser on the Closing Date. As of the Closing Date, the Transferred Assets shall cease to be insured by Novartis' insurance policies or by Novartis' self-insurance, as the case may be, and Purchaser shall have no right or obligation with respect to any such policy.

ARTICLE 3 ASSUMED LIABILITIES AND EXCLUDED LIABILITIES

3.1 <u>Assignment and Assumption of Assumed Liabilities</u>. At the Closing, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, Novartis shall assign to Purchaser, and, <u>provided</u> that Purchaser shall have no right to take any such action in Novartis' (or any of its Affiliates') name, Purchaser shall assume, be responsible for, and pay, perform, and discharge when due, any Liabilities arising from the ownership or use of the Transferred Assets and/or the Licensed IP by or on behalf of Purchaser (or any of its successors or assignees) or the manufacture, sale, marketing, distribution, or other commercialization of the Products by or on behalf of Purchaser (or any of its successors or assignees), including (a) any Tax liabilities arising within the Territory after the Closing Date, and (b) any Liabilities arising within or outside the Territory in respect of any Product Liability Claim, intellectual property infringement claim or misappropriation claim brought by any Third Party after the Closing Date relating to the Drug Substances or the Products except, in each case, to the extent arising out of Drug Substances or Products manufactured as of the Closing Date (collectively, "**Assumed Liabilities**").

3.2 <u>Excluded Liabilities</u>. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, Purchaser shall not assume and shall not be responsible to pay, perform or discharge and Novartis shall retain and remain responsible for and pay, perform, and discharge any and all Liabilities other than the Assumed Liabilities (the "**Excluded Liabilities**"), including:

(a) any Liabilities related to or arising out of the Excluded Assets;

(b) any Liabilities under any of the Excluded Agreements;

(c) any Liabilities in respect of any pending or threatened claim, demand, action or proceeding arising out of, relating to or otherwise in respect of the Transferred Assets to the extent such claim, demand, action or proceeding relates to any period prior to the Closing Date;

(d) any Liabilities arising outside the Territory in respect of any Product Liability Claim, intellectual property infringement claim or misappropriation claim brought by any Third Party in respect of any Product that was sold outside the Territory by a party other than Purchaser (or anyone acting on the behalf of Purchaser);

(e) any Liabilities arising within the Territory in respect of any Product Liability Claim, intellectual property infringement claim or misappropriation claim brought by any Third Party to the extent arising out of Drug Substances or Products manufactured as of the Closing Date;

(f) any Liabilities associated with debt, loans or credit facilities of Novartis, any of its Affiliates owing to financial institutions; and

(g) any Liabilities arising out of, in respect of or in connection with the failure by Novartis or any of its Affiliates to comply with any

Law.

ARTICLE 4 GRANT OF LICENSES

4.1 Grant of Licenses.

(a) *Licenses*. The entire consideration for the licenses under the License Agreement shall form part of this Agreement (including the Purchase Price and the transfer of Transferred Assets) and the licenses shall be fully paid-up, royalty-free, and perpetual.

(b) *Grant-back License*. From and after the Closing, Purchaser hereby grants Novartis a non-exclusive, fully paid-up, royalty-free, perpetual license, with the right to sublicense (through multiple tiers) under the Transferred IP, including right to use and reference the NDAs, any associated INDs, and any clinical data, including the ability to make available the underlying raw data, in respect of the Drug Substances and the Products solely (i) in support of an application to the relevant Governmental Entity seeking approval or permission to conduct clinical studies or approval or marketing authorization in China, Israel and Mexico, (ii) to exercise Novartis' rights and perform Novartis' obligations under this Agreement, the Supply Agreement, and the other Ancillary Agreements, (iii) as necessary to comply with its obligations under Law, (iv) to the extent it is reasonably necessary for the defense or prosecution of any legal or regulatory proceeding in which Novartis or any of its Affiliates is a party or a potential party, (v) to conduct research and development activities with respect to the Drug Substances and/or Products in the Territory, (vi) to manufacture and import, or have manufactured and imported, the Ex-Territory Products in the Territory for commercialization outside the Territory, and/or (vii) to research, have researched, develop, have developed, use, have used, improve, have improved, market, have marketed, practice, have practiced, make, have made, offer for sale, sell, have sold, distribute, have distributed, import, have imported, export, have exported and otherwise exploit, have exploited, combinations of each Drug Substance or Product with one or more other active ingredient or device for all uses.

(c) From and after the Closing, Purchaser hereby grants Novartis a non-exclusive, fully paid-up, royalty-free, transferable, perpetual license, with the right to sublicense (through multiple tiers) under the '295 Patent to research, have researched, develop, have developed, use, have used, improve, have improved, market, have marketed, practice, have practiced, make, have made, offer for sale, sell, have sold, distribute, have distributed, import, have imported, export, have exported and otherwise exploit, or have exploited, the '295 Patent for any and all uses and purposes, but excluding for clarity, the right to commercialize the Products in the Territory (except as may otherwise be contemplated under any Ancillary Agreement).

4.2 <u>Reservation of Rights.</u> From and after the Closing, without limiting any other rights that Novartis, its Affiliates, any of their service providers, and/or Other Partners may have, Novartis, its Affiliates, any of their service providers, and/or Other Partners (a) shall not be restricted from conducting research and development activities with respect to any Drug Substance, any Product, and/or any Ex-Territory Product in the Territory, (b) may manufacture and import or have manufactured and imported the Ex-Territory Products in the Territory solely for commercialization outside the Territory, and (c) may manufacture and import or have the Products manufactured and imported within or outside the Territory for sale to Purchaser in accordance with the Supply Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in this Agreement or any Ancillary Agreement restricts Novartis and/or its Affiliates from developing, manufacturing, distributing, and/or selling a combination product which includes both a Drug Substance as an active ingredient and another compound as an active ingredient for all uses.

4.3 Restriction to Territory.

(a) From and after the Closing, Purchaser and its Affiliates may research, have researched, develop, have developed, manufacture, have manufactured, use, have used, and import and/or have imported the Products outside the Territory for commercialization in the Territory. Purchaser and its Affiliates shall not sell or promote the Products outside the Territory.

(b) From and after the Closing, Novartis, its Affiliates, any of their service providers and/or Other Partners may manufacture and import or have manufactured and imported the Ex-Territory Product in the Territory for commercialization outside the Territory. Except as contemplated under any Ancillary Agreement, Novartis and its Affiliates shall not sell or promote or otherwise commercialize the Products or the Ex-Territory Product in the Territory.

(c) If Purchaser or its Affiliates enter into an agreement to have the Products sold or promoted by a Third Party, the rights to have the Products sold or promoted shall be limited to jurisdictions within the Territory. If Purchaser or its Affiliates sells, transfers, or otherwise divests to a Third Party the Product NDAs and rights to sell, promote, have sold, or have promoted the Products, then the rights to have the Products sold or promoted shall be limited (to the extent permitted by applicable Law) to jurisdictions within the Territory.

(d) If Novartis or its Affiliates enter into an agreement to have an Ex-Territory Product sold or promoted by a Third Party, the rights to have such Ex-Territory Product sold or promoted shall be limited to jurisdictions outside the Territory. If Novartis or its Affiliates sells, transfers, or otherwise divests to an Other Partner the Products marketing authorizations (including any equivalent of an NDA in any jurisdiction outside of the United States) and rights to sell, promote, have sold, or have promoted an Ex-Territory Product, then the rights to have such Ex-Territory Product sold or promoted shall be limited (to the extent permitted by applicable Law) to jurisdictions outside the Territory.

ARTICLE 5 PAYMENTS

5.1 Consideration.

(a) The total consideration for the purchase of the Transferred Assets as described herein and for the provision of the licenses under the License Agreement shall be:

Purchase Price");

(i) an amount in cash equal to USD \$130,000,000 (one hundred and thirty million US dollars) (the "Initial

(ii) the Additional Consideration, as determined in accordance with <u>Section 5.2</u> (the Initial Purchase Price and the Additional Consideration together being the "**Purchase Price**"); and

(iii) the assumption of the Assumed Liabilities.

(b) Purchaser acknowledges and agrees that the total consideration set forth in <u>Section 5.1(a)</u> shall not be reduced and no part of such consideration shall be refunded, and Novartis and its Affiliates shall have no liability of any kind to Purchaser or its Affiliates in the event that any NDA in respect of the Drug Substances or the Products is not transferred to Purchaser for any reason other than where Novartis has withdrawn or wrongfully omitted to maintain the applicable NDA. All payments shall be made free and clear of, and without deduction for, withholdings, Taxes (including Transfer Taxes) or other charges of any kind and of any country.

(c) The Parties agree that, for all purposes, the Purchase Price shall be allocated to the individual Products as set out in Annex 5.1(c).

5.2 Additional Consideration.

(a) The Parties acknowledge that, as at the date of this Agreement, production of new batches of Triesence is not possible due to on-going supply chain interruptions. The Parties agree that, in addition to the Initial Purchase Price, the Purchaser shall pay the additional consideration ("Additional Consideration") following the first Triesence Commercial Batch Release to occur following the date of this Agreement, the amount of the Additional Consideration shall be as follows:

(i) if the first Triesence Commercial Batch Release occurs on or before the first anniversary of the Closing Date, the Additional Consideration shall be USD \$45,000,000 (forty five million US dollars);

(ii) if the first Triesence Commercial Batch Release occurs after the first anniversary of the Closing Date but on or before the second anniversary of the Closing Date, the Additional Consideration shall be USD \$37,000,000 (thirty seven million US dollars);

(iii) if the first Triesence Commercial Batch Release occurs after the second anniversary of the Closing Date but on or before the third anniversary of the Closing Date, the Additional Consideration shall be USD \$32,000,000 (thirty two million US dollars);

(iv) if the first Triesence Commercial Batch Release occurs after the third anniversary of the Closing Date no Additional Consideration shall be payable.

(b)

(i) If the first Triesence Commercial Batch Release after the date of this Agreement occurs prior to Closing, Purchaser shall pay the Additional Consideration to Novartis at Closing along with the Initial Purchase Price (so that the amount transferred pursuant to <u>Section 6.2(c)</u> is equal to the Initial Purchase Price plus the Additional Consideration).

(ii) If the first Triesence Commercial Batch Release after the date of this Agreement occurs after Closing, Purchaser shall, within 10 Business Days of the first Triesence Commercial Batch Release, (i) pay the Additional Consideration to Novartis, free and clear of, and without deduction for, withholdings, Taxes, or other charges of any kind and of any country, by wire transfer into the bank account specified in Section 6.2(c) below, and (ii) deliver to Novartis a U.S. Federal Reserve reference or similar number evidencing execution of such payment.

(c) For the avoidance of doubt, Additional Consideration shall be payable only once pursuant to this Agreement and the amount of the Additional Consideration shall not exceed USD \$45,000,000 (forty five million US dollars) in any circumstances.

(d) In the event that the first Triesence Commercial Batch Release has not occurred as of the third anniversary of the Closing Date no Additional Consideration shall be payable by Purchaser to Novartis.

5.3 <u>Taxes</u>.

(a) Purchaser shall bear any transfer Tax imposed in the Territory in connection with the transactions contemplated in this Agreement ("**Transfer Taxes**") and shall make any corresponding tax declarations in the Territory that may be required.

(b) Each Party shall be responsible for any Tax obligations of its own due to this Agreement (including income Tax and capital gains Tax). Neither Party shall have any obligation towards the other Party in case that the other Party fails to fully comply with its Tax obligations.

(c) For all Tax purposes, both Parties agree to report the transactions contemplated by this Agreement in a manner consistent with its terms and to not take any position inconsistent therewith in any Tax return, refund claim, litigation, or otherwise.

ARTICLE 6 THE CLOSING

6.1 <u>Closing</u>. Subject to the satisfaction of all the conditions set forth in <u>ARTICLE 10</u>, the closing of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (the "**Closing**") shall take place at the offices of Novartis or such other place as the parties may agree (or, if agreed by the parties, remotely by electronic means), on the third (3rd) Business Day following the satisfaction or waiver of the conditions in <u>ARTICLE 10</u> (other than those conditions which, by their nature, may only be satisfied at Closing, but subject to the satisfaction of such conditions) or on such earlier date as mutually agreed by the Parties. The Closing shall be deemed to have occurred as of 12:01 a.m. New York City time, on the Closing Date, such that Purchaser shall be deemed the owner of the Transferred Assets on and after the Closing Date.

6.2 Deliverables.

(a) The Parties acknowledge and agree that simultaneously with the execution of this Agreement, Novartis and Purchaser shall have executed and delivered to each other duly executed copies of the following agreements, which shall become effective as of Closing in accordance with their terms:

- (i) the Alcon Sublicense Agreement;
- (ii) the Commercial Agreement;
- (iii) the Domain Name and Website Assignment Agreement;
- (iv) the License Agreement;
- (v) the Supply Agreement;
- (vi) the Patent Assignment Agreement; and
- (vii) the Transition Services Agreement.

(b) At the Closing, the Parties shall execute and deliver other documents and instruments of sale, assignment, transfer, and conveyance as are reasonably necessary to effectuate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement to occur on the Closing Date, including the Bill of Sale & Assignment and Assumption Agreement.

(c) At the Closing, Purchaser shall (i) pay the Initial Purchase Price (and, if the first Triesence Commercial Batch Release has occurred prior to Closing, the Additional Consideration) to Novartis, free and clear of, and without deduction for, withholdings, Taxes, or other charges of any kind and of any country, by wire transfer into the bank account specified below, and (ii) deliver to Novartis a U.S. Federal Reserve reference or similar number evidencing execution of such payment. For the avoidance of doubt, the Parties acknowledge and agree that the Closing shall not occur until Novartis shall have confirmed receipt of the entirety of the Initial Purchase Price (and, if the first Triesence Commercial Batch Release has occurred prior to Closing, the Additional Consideration) at following bank account:

Name of Company: NOVARTIS TECHNOLOGY LLC Company Address: 251 LITTLE FALLS DRIVE WILMINGTON DE 19808 US Citibank Branch: Citibank N.A. New York Swift Code: CITIUS33 ABA: 021000089 Account No.: 31178485

ARTICLE 7 REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF NOVARTIS

Novartis represents and warrants to Purchaser, subject to the exceptions disclosed in the disclosure schedules provided by Novartis to Purchaser concurrently with the execution of this Agreement (the "Novartis Disclosure Schedule"), as follows:

7.1 <u>Organization; Qualification</u>. Novartis is a company duly organized, validly existing, and in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its formation. Novartis is duly qualified to do business and in good standing (to the extent such concept is recognized by the applicable jurisdiction) as a foreign entity in each jurisdiction in which the nature of its business or the ownership, lease, or operation of its assets and properties makes such qualification necessary, except where the failure to be so qualified or to be in good standing would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

7.2 <u>Authority; Enforceability</u>. Novartis has the requisite organizational power and authority to enter into, on behalf of itself and its Affiliates who hold legal title to any of the Transferred Assets, this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. The execution and delivery of this Agreement and, as of the Closing, each of the Ancillary Agreements, by Novartis and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby have been duly and validly authorized and no other organizational proceedings on the part of Novartis are required therefor. This Agreement has been, and the Ancillary Agreements, as of the Closing, will be, duly executed and delivered by Novartis and, assuming the due authorization, execution, and delivery of this Agreement and, as of the Closing, each of the Ancillary Agreements, by Purchaser, will constitute the legal, valid, and binding obligation of Novartis, enforceable against Novartis in accordance with their terms, subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, fraudulent transfer, or other similar Laws affecting or relating to the enforcement of creditors' rights generally from time to time in effect, and to general principles of equity.

7.3 <u>No Violations; Consents</u>. Except for the Authorizations listed in <u>Section 7.3</u> of the Novartis Disclosure Schedule, the execution and delivery of this Agreement does not and, as of the Closing, the execution and delivery of the Ancillary Agreements will not, and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby and the compliance with the terms hereof and thereof will not (i) violate any Law applicable to Novartis, the Drug Substances, the Products, the Transferred Assets, or the Licensed IP, (ii) conflict with any provision of the charter or by-laws (or similar organizational documents) of Novartis, or (iii) require any approval, authorization, consent, license, exemption, filing, or registration with any court, arbitrator, or Governmental Entity.

7.4 <u>Litigation</u>. Except as disclosed in <u>Section 7.4</u> of the Novartis Disclosure Schedule, there is no suit, claim, action, investigation, or proceeding pending or, to the Knowledge of Novartis, threatened against Novartis or any of its Affiliates, that relates to the Drug Substances, the Products, the Transferred Assets, or the Licensed IP. There are no outstanding orders, injunctions, or decrees of any Governmental Entity that apply to any of the Transferred Assets that restrict the ownership, disposition, or use of any of the Transferred Assets.

7.5 <u>Debarred Personnel</u>. Neither Novartis nor any of its Affiliates nor any of Novartis' or its Affiliates' employees or consultants has been debarred or deemed subject to debarrent pursuant to Section 306 of the Act nor, to the Knowledge of Novartis, are any such Persons the subject of a conviction described in such section.

7.6 <u>Title to Assets</u>. Novartis has good, valid and marketable title to, or a valid and enforceable license or other right to use (as applicable), all of the Transferred Assets. All of the Transferred Assets owned or purported to be owned by Novartis are owned free and clear of all Encumbrances other than Permitted Encumbrances.

7.7 Intellectual Property.

(a) To the Knowledge of Novartis, the Product IP constitutes all of the material intellectual property rights owned by or licensed to Novartis or its Affiliates which is used by Novartis and/or its Affiliates to manufacture, sell, market, distribute, or otherwise commercialize the Products as of the date hereof. To the Knowledge of Novartis, neither Novartis nor any of its Affiliates owns, licenses or otherwise controls any Patents, other than the Transferred Patents, that are reasonably necessary to manufacture, sell, market, distribute, or otherwise commercialize the Products.

(b) <u>Annex 1.1(a)</u> and, <u>Annex 1.1(e)</u>, contain true and complete lists of all trademarks, and domain names included in the Product IP. Except for the rights granted to Watson Laboratories, Inc., Actavis, Inc. and Actavis Pharma, Inc. in the Transferred Agreements, neither Novartis nor any of its Affiliates is a party to any license or similar agreement under which it has granted a license or other rights to any Third Party in respect of the Drug Substances or the Products which would conflict in any material respect with the rights being conveyed or licensed to Purchaser under this Agreement or the License Agreement, respectively.

(c) To the Knowledge of Novartis, the manufacture, sale, offer for sale, or importation of the Products in the Territory, as it is manufactured, sold, offered for sale, or imported as of the date hereof, does not infringe, misappropriate, or otherwise violate in any material respect the intellectual property rights of any Third Party in the Territory. To the Knowledge of Novartis, none of the Product IP has been adjudged invalid or unenforceable in whole or part and all such Product IP is valid and enforceable, other than abandoned Patents and the opinions of the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office with respect to currently pending patent applications and trademark applications or registered trademarks which are vulnerable for non-use cancellation. As of the date hereof, there is, in the Territory, no suit, claim, action, investigation, or proceeding pending or, to the Knowledge of Novartis, threatened in writing against Novartis or any of its Affiliates, that relates to the Product IP (i) based upon, or challenging or seeking to deny or restrict, the rights of Novartis or any of its Affiliates in any of the Product IP, or (ii) alleging that the Products, or any processes used to manufacture the Products, conflict with, misappropriate, infringe, or otherwise violate any intellectual property rights of any Third Party in the Territory.

(d) To the Knowledge of Novartis, no Third Party is infringing any of the Product IP.

(e) Novartis is the sole and exclusive legal and beneficial owner of all right, title and interest in and to the Transferred IP, and has the valid and enforceable right to use all Licensed IP, free and clear of Encumbrances other than Permitted Encumbrances.

(f) Neither the execution, delivery, or performance of this Agreement, nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, will result in the loss or impairment of or payment of any additional amounts with respect to, or require the consent of any other Person in respect of, Purchaser's right to own or use any Product IP. Immediately, following the Closing, all Transferred IP and Licensed IP will be owned or available, respectively, for use by Purchaser on identical terms as they were owned or available for use by Novartis immediately prior to the Closing.

(g) Novartis has taken commercially reasonable steps to maintain and enforce the Product IP and to preserve the confidentiality of all trade secrets included in the Product IP.

7.8 <u>Compliance with Applicable Law</u>. Neither Novartis nor any of its Affiliates is in violation of any applicable Law, which could reasonably be expected to prevent or materially delay the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or materially interfere with Novartis' performance of its obligations hereunder.

7.9 Exclusivity of Representations. Except for the representations and warranties contained in this ARTICLE 7 (as modified by the Novartis Disclosure Schedule) and in the Ancillary Agreements, neither Novartis nor any other Person makes any other express or implied representation or warranty with respect to the Drug Substances, the Products, the Transferred Assets, the Assumed Liabilities, the Licensed IP, the Transferred Website, or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and Novartis disclaims any other representations or warranties, whether made by Novartis, its Affiliates, or any of their respective Representatives. Except for the representations and warranties contained in this ARTICLE 7 (as modified by the Novartis Disclosure Schedule) and in the Ancillary Agreements, Novartis hereby disclaims all liability and responsibility for any representation, warranty, projection, forecast, statement, or information made, communicated, or furnished (whether orally or in writing, in any "data room" relating to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, in management presentations, functional "break-out" discussions, responses to questions or requests submitted by or on behalf of Purchaser, or in any other form in consideration or investigation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement) to Purchaser, its Affiliates, or any of their respective Representatives (including any opinion, information, forecast, projection, or advice that may have been or may be provided to Purchaser, its Affiliates, or any of their respective Representatives by any Representative of Novartis or any of its Affiliates). Novartis makes no representations or warranties to Purchaser, its Affiliates, or any of their respective Representatives regarding (a) merchantability or fitness for any particular purpose, or (b) the probable success or profitability of the Drug Substances, the Products, the Transferred Assets, the Assumed Liabilities, or the Licensed IP. Novartis makes no representations or warranties to Purchaser, its Affiliates, or any of their respective Representatives regarding the Transferred Website or any representation, warranty, projection, forecast, statement, or information made, communicated, or furnished therein. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Purchaser acknowledges and agrees that, except as expressly provided in this Agreement or in the Ancillary Agreements, Purchaser is acquiring the Transferred Assets on an "as is, where is" basis.

ARTICLE 8 REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PURCHASER

Purchaser represents and warrants to Novartis, subject to the exceptions disclosed in the disclosure schedules provided by Purchaser to Novartis concurrently with the execution of this Agreement (the "**Purchaser Disclosure Schedule**"), as follows:

8.1 Organization; Qualification. Purchaser is a corporation duly organized, validly existing, and in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its formation. Purchaser is duly qualified to do business and in good standing (to the extent such concept is recognized by the applicable jurisdiction) as a foreign entity in each jurisdiction in which the nature of its business or the ownership, lease, or operation of its assets and properties makes such qualification necessary, except where the failure to be so qualified or be in good standing would not reasonably be expected to prevent or materially delay the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby. Purchaser is a pharmaceutical company, which, together with its Affiliates and distributors, has the necessary technical and commercial resources and expertise to assume from Novartis the Transferred Assets and related obligations under the terms, conditions, and timelines contained in this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements.

8.2 <u>Authority; Enforceability</u>. Purchaser has the requisite organizational power and authority to enter into this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. The execution and delivery of this Agreement and, as of the Closing, each of the Ancillary Agreements, by Purchaser and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby have been duly and validly authorized and no other organizational proceedings on the part of Purchaser are required therefor. This Agreement has been, and the Ancillary Agreements, as of the Closing, will be, duly executed and delivered by Purchaser and, assuming the due authorization, execution, and delivery of this Agreement and, as of the Closing, the Ancillary Agreements, by Novartis, will constitute the legal, valid, and binding obligations of Purchaser, enforceable against Purchaser in accordance with their terms, subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, fraudulent transfer, or other similar Laws affecting or relating to the enforcement of creditors' rights generally from time to time in effect, and to general principles of equity.

8.3 No Violations; Consents. Except for (a) any filings with Governmental Entities or other Authorizations necessary to transfer the Transferred Assets, and (b) the Authorizations listed in Section 8.3 of the Purchaser Disclosure Schedule, the execution and delivery of this Agreement do not, and, as of the Closing, the execution and delivery of the Ancillary Agreements will not, and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby and the compliance with the terms hereof and thereof will not (i) violate any Law applicable to Purchaser, (ii) conflict with any provision of the certificate of incorporation or by-laws (or similar organizational documents) of Purchaser, or (iii) require any approval, authorization, consent, license, exemption, filing, or registration with any court, arbitrator, or Governmental Entity, except with respect to the foregoing clause (iii), for such approvals, authorizations, consents, licenses, exemptions, filings, or registrations which have been obtained or made or which, if not obtained or made, would not reasonably be expected to prevent or materially delay the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or materially interfere with Purchaser's performance of its obligations hereunder.

8.4 Litigation. Except as disclosed in Section 8.4 of the Purchaser Disclosure Schedule, there is no suit, claim, action, investigation, or proceeding pending or, to the Knowledge of Purchaser, threatened in writing against Purchaser or any of its Affiliates, which (a) would reasonably be expected to prevent or materially delay the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or materially interfere with Purchaser's performance of its obligations hereunder, or (b) challenges or seeks to prevent or enjoin the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or any of the Ancillary Agreements. There are no outstanding orders, injunctions, or decrees of any Governmental Entity that apply to Purchaser that restrict the ownership, disposition, or use of any of the Transferred Assets in a manner that would reasonably be expected to prevent or materially delay the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or materially delay the consummation of the transactions contemplated to prevent or materially delay the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or materially delay the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or materially delay the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or materially delay the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or materially delay the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or materially delay the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or materially delay the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or materially delay the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or materially delay the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or materially interfere with Purchaser's performance of its obligations hereunder.

8.5 Debarred Personnel. Neither Purchaser nor any of its Affiliates nor any of Purchaser's or its Affiliates' employees or consultants has been debarred or deemed subject to debarment pursuant to Section 306 of the Act nor, to the Knowledge of Purchaser, are any such Persons the subject of a conviction described in such section.

8.6 Availability of Funds.

(a) At the Closing, Purchaser will have immediately available cash that is sufficient to pay the full consideration payable hereunder, to satisfy all of the Assumed Liabilities, and to make all other necessary payments in connection with the transactions contemplated by, and to perform its obligations under, this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements.

(b) After giving effect to the transactions contemplated hereby, including the payment of all amounts set forth in <u>Section 8.6(a)</u> (including all related fees and expenses), Purchaser will not (i) be insolvent (because (x) Purchaser's financial condition is such that the sum of its debts is greater than the fair value of its assets, (y) the present fair saleable value of Purchaser's assets will be less than the amount required to pay Purchaser's probable liability on its debts as they become absolute and matured, or (z) Purchaser is unable to pay all of its debts as and when they become due and payable), (ii) have unreasonably small capital with which to engage in its business, or (iii) have incurred or plan to incur debts beyond its ability to pay as they become absolute and matured.

8.7 Compliance with Applicable Law.

(a) To the Knowledge of Purchaser, neither Purchaser nor any of its Affiliates is in violation of any applicable Law, which would reasonably be expected to prevent or materially delay the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or materially interfere with Purchaser's performance of its obligations hereunder.

(b) Purchaser is aware of the applicable Law relating to marketing, distribution, and sale of the Products in the Territory, and, subject to the terms of Phase 1 of the Supply Agreement, will be able to legally import, export, store, market, distribute, and sell the Products in the Territory immediately as of the Closing.

(c) As of the NDA Transfer Date, Purchaser or its Affiliates shall have the full organizational and regulatory authority to own, hold, and use the Product NDAs.

8.8 <u>No Knowledge of Misrepresentation or Omission</u>. As of the date of this Agreement, none of the individuals listed on Annex 1.1(c) have actual knowledge (without having conducted or having any duty to conduct any investigation) that the representations and warranties of Novartis made in this Agreement are inaccurate or untrue (including as qualified by the Novartis Disclosure Schedules).

8.9 Independent Assessment; No Inducement or Reliance. Purchaser agrees and acknowledges that, except for the representations and warranties expressly set forth in ARTICLE 7 (as modified by the Novartis Disclosure Schedule), neither Novartis nor any of its Affiliates, or any of their respective Representatives, or any other Person has made or is making, and Purchaser has not relied upon and is not relying upon, any other representations or warranties, promises, covenants, agreements, or guaranties, statutory, common law, or otherwise, of any nature, oral or written, past, present, or future, including any other representations or warranties, express or implied. In addition, Purchaser has not relied upon and is not relying upon the accuracy or completeness of any other information, made by, or made available by, Novartis, its Affiliates or any of their respective Representatives, with respect to, or in connection with, the negotiation, execution, or delivery of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby, notwithstanding the delivery or disclosure of any documentation or other information with respect to any one or more of the foregoing, including in any "data room" relating to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, in management presentations, functional "break-out" discussions, responses to questions or requests submitted by or on behalf of Purchaser, or in any other form provided or made available to Purchaser or its Representatives in anticipation or contemplation of any of the transactions contemplated hereby. Furthermore, in connection with the due diligence investigation of the Drug Substances, the Products, the Transferred Assets, the Assumed Liabilities, and the Licensed IP by and on behalf of Purchaser, Purchaser and its Representatives have received and may continue to receive from Novartis, its Affiliates, or any of their respective Representatives certain estimates, projections, forecasts, and other forwardlooking information, as well as certain business plan information, regarding the Drug Substances, the Products, the Transferred Assets, the Assumed Liabilities, and the Licensed IP. Purchaser hereby acknowledges that there are uncertainties inherent in attempting to make such estimates, projections, forecasts, and other forward-looking statements, as well as in such business plans, with which Purchaser is familiar, that Purchaser is taking full responsibility for making its own evaluation of the adequacy and accuracy of all estimates, projections, forecasts, and other forward-looking information, as well as such business plans, so furnished to it (including the reasonableness of the assumptions underlying such estimates, projections, forecasts, forwardlooking information, or business plans), and that Purchaser will have no claim against Novartis, its Affiliates, or any of their respective Representatives, with respect thereto. Accordingly, Purchaser hereby acknowledges that none of Novartis, its Affiliates, or any of their respective Representatives, has made or is making any representation or warranty with respect to, and Purchaser has not relied upon, such estimates, projections, forecasts, forward-looking statements, or business plans (including the reasonableness of the assumptions underlying such estimates, projections, forecasts, forward-looking statements, or business plans).

8.10 Exclusivity of Representations. Except for the representations and warranties contained in this <u>ARTICLE 8</u> (as modified by the Purchaser Disclosure Schedule) and in the Ancillary Agreements, neither Purchaser nor any other Person makes any other express or implied representation or warranty with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and Purchaser disclaims any other representations or warranties, whether made by Purchaser, its Affiliates, or any of their respective Representatives.

ARTICLE 9 COVENANTS

The Parties covenant and agree as follows:

9.1 <u>Conduct of Business</u>. During the period from the date hereof until the Closing Date, Novartis will conduct its business with respect to the Transferred Assets in all material respects in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice.

9.2 Antitrust Laws.

(a) Purchaser shall; (i) as promptly as practicable but in no event later than ten (10) Business Days following the date hereof, take all actions necessary to file or cause to be filed the filings required of it or any of its Affiliates under any applicable Antitrust Laws in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby; (ii) take commercially reasonable actions necessary to obtain the required consents from Antitrust Authorities, including antitrust clearance under the HSR Act and under any other Antitrust Law, as promptly as practicable, and in any event prior to the Termination Date; (iii) at the earliest practicable date comply with (or properly reduce the scope of) any formal or informal request for additional information or documentary material received by it or any of its Affiliates from any Antitrust Authority; and (iv) consult and cooperate with Novartis, and consider in good faith the views of Novartis, in connection with any analyses, appearances, presentations, memoranda, briefs, arguments, opinions, and proposals made or submitted by or on behalf of any Party in connection with proceedings under or relating to any Antitrust Laws. Novartis shall (x) as promptly as practicable but in no event later than ten (10) Business Days following the date hereof, take all actions necessary to file or cause to be filed the filings required of it or any of its Affiliates under any applicable Antitrust Laws in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby; (y) at the earliest practicable date comply with (or properly reduce the scope of) any formal or informal request for additional information or documentary material received by it or any of its Affiliates from any Antitrust Authority; and (z) consult and cooperate with Purchaser, and consider in good faith the views of Purchaser, in connection with any analyses, appearances, presentations, memoranda, briefs, arguments, opinions, and proposals made or submitted by or on behalf of any Party in connection with proceedings under or relating to any Antitrust Laws. Each of Purchaser and Novartis will promptly notify the other Party of any written communication made to or received by it from any Antitrust Authority regarding any of the transactions contemplated hereby, and, subject to applicable Law, if practicable, permit the other Party to review in advance any proposed written communication to any such Antitrust Authority and incorporate the other Party's reasonable comments, not agree to participate in any substantive meeting or discussion with any such Antitrust Authority in respect of any filing, investigation, or inquiry concerning this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby unless, to the extent reasonably practicable, it consults with the other Party in advance and, to the extent permitted by such Antitrust Authority, gives the other Party the opportunity to attend, and furnish the other Party with copies of all correspondence, filings, and written communications between it and its Affiliates and their respective Representatives on one hand and any such Antitrust Authority or its respective staff on the other hand, with respect to this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby.

(b) Purchaser shall be responsible for the payment of all filing fees required by any Antitrust Authority. Purchaser and Novartis shall be responsible for paying their own legal fees in connection with making any premerger notification that may be required under the HSR Act.

(c) Purchaser shall not, and shall cause its Affiliates not to, acquire or agree to acquire, by merging with or into or consolidating with, or by purchasing a substantial portion of the assets of or equity in, or by any other manner, any business or any corporation, partnership, association, or other business organization or division thereof, or otherwise acquire or agree to acquire any assets, if the entering into of a definitive agreement relating to, or the consummation of such acquisition, merger, or consolidation could reasonably be expected to: (i) impose any delay in the obtaining of, or increase the risk of not obtaining, any consents of any Governmental Entity necessary to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby or the expiration or termination of the transactions contemplated hereby; (ii) increase the risk of not being able to remove any such order, injunction, or decree on appeal or otherwise; or (iv) delay or prevent the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.

(d) Purchaser shall take commercially reasonable actions requested by any Antitrust Authority, or necessary to resolve any objections that may be asserted by any Antitrust Authority with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement under any Antitrust Law. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Purchaser shall:

(i) at Purchaser's sole cost and liability, comply with all commercially reasonable restrictions and conditions, if any, imposed or requested by any Antitrust Authority with respect to Antitrust Laws in connection with granting any necessary clearance or terminating any applicable waiting period, including (x) agreeing to sell, divest, hold separate, license, cause a Third Party to acquire, or otherwise dispose of, any subsidiary, operations, divisions, businesses, product lines, customers, or assets of Purchaser or its Affiliates contemporaneously with or after the Closing (including the Transferred Assets) and regardless as to whether a Third Party purchaser has been identified or approved prior to the Closing (a "**Divestiture**"), (y) taking or committing to take such other actions that may limit Purchaser or its Affiliates, or freedom of action with respect to, or Purchaser's and its Affiliates' ability to retain, one or more of its operations, divisions, businesses, product lines, customers, or assets, and (z) entering into any order, consent, decree, or other agreement to effectuate any of the foregoing;

(ii) use commercially reasonable efforts to terminate any contract or other business relationship as may be required to obtain any necessary clearance of any Antitrust Authority or to obtain termination of any applicable waiting period under any Antitrust Laws;

(iii) not extend any waiting period or enter into any agreement or understanding with any Antitrust Authority; and

(iv) use commercially reasonable efforts to oppose any request for the entry of, and seek to have vacated or terminated, any order, judgment, decree, injunction, or ruling of any Antitrust Authority that could restrain, prevent, or delay the Closing, including by defending through litigation, any action asserted by any Person in any court or before any Antitrust Authority and by exhausting all avenues of appeal, including appealing properly any adverse decision or order by any Antitrust Authority, or, if requested by Novartis, Purchaser shall use commercially reasonable efforts to commence or threaten to commence and pursue vigorously any action Novartis believes to be helpful in obtaining any necessary clearance of any Antitrust Authority or obtaining termination of any applicable waiting period under any Antitrust Laws, or in terminating any outstanding action. The Parties shall each bear their own costs and legal expenses in responding to any investigation or request for information received from an Antitrust Authority or in participating in any action or litigation described in this paragraph.

(e) In furtherance of the foregoing, Purchaser shall use commercially reasonable efforts to negotiate in good faith with all Antitrust Authorities and all Third Parties in connection with a Divestiture or any other matter referred to in <u>Section 9.2(d)</u> in order to enter into definitive agreements with all such Persons within thirty (30) calendar days of receipt by Purchaser of any request for additional documents and information or the commencement of a second phase investigation by any Antitrust Authority.

9.3 Confidentiality. Each of Novartis and Purchaser covenants and agrees that neither it nor any of its Affiliates shall disclose any Confidential Information (as defined below) to any Third Party other than to (a) its and its Affiliates' respective Representatives who need to know such information and who are bound by restrictions regarding disclosure and use of such Confidential Information comparable to and no less restrictive than those set forth herein, and (b) actual and proposed (sub)licensees, manufacturers, suppliers, contractors, distributors, and permitted assignees who are bound in writing by restrictions regarding disclosure and use of the Confidential Information comparable to and no less restrictive than those set forth herein; provided, that Purchaser may disclose Confidential Information in confidence to any Person with whom such Purchaser has, or is proposing to enter into, a business relationship related to any of the Transferred Assets and to any Governmental Entity for purposes of obtaining approval to test or market a Product. For purposes of this Section 9.3, "Confidential Information" means (1) any confidential or proprietary information of, or concerning, the Drug Substances, the Products, the Transferred Assets, or the Licensed IP, and (2) the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. The obligations of confidentiality set forth in this Agreement shall not apply to any such Confidential Information that: (i) is independently developed without access to or use of the Confidential Information; (ii) is or becomes (or has already become) publicly available without breach of this Agreement or any Ancillary Agreement; or (iii) is rightfully received from a Third Party without obligation of confidentiality having the right to disclose such Confidential Information. In addition, notwithstanding the confidentiality obligations set forth in this Agreement, each Party may disclose Confidential Information to the extent the disclosure of which is consented to by the other Party in writing or the disclosure of which is requested or required by a Governmental Entity or applicable Law, rule (including rule of a stock exchange, listing agency or automated quotation system) or legal process (whether by statute, rule, regulation, court order, requests for information in legal proceedings, subpoena, civil investigative demand, or other similar process). In maintaining the confidentiality of Confidential Information, each Party shall exercise the same degree of care that it exercises with its own confidential information, and in no event less than a reasonable degree of care. Effective as of the Closing, this Section 9.3 shall supersede the Confidentiality Agreement in all respects and all confidential information shared pursuant to the Confidentiality Agreement prior to the Closing shall be deemed Confidential Information for purposes hereof.

9.4 <u>Press Releases</u>. Neither Party shall issue any press release, trade announcement, or make any other public announcement with regard to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (other than the press release attached hereto as <u>Exhibit B</u>) without the other Party's prior written consent, which shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or delayed. This restriction shall not apply to announcements required by any Laws applicable to the Parties or any of their respective Affiliates, by a request by a Governmental Entity, or by an obligation pursuant to the rules of any securities exchange (and only to the extent so required); <u>provided, however</u>, that in such event the Parties shall, to the extent reasonably practicable, reasonably cooperate to agree upon the content and wording of any such announcements. Each Party acknowledges that the other Party shall have the right to (a) disclose a brief summary of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the Purchase Price, in its official financial reports, and (b) communicate with its customers, suppliers, distributors, and other contractual counterparties, regarding this Agreement, the Ancillary Agreements, and the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby. To the extent any Party is required to file a copy of this Agreement or any Ancillary Agreement as an exhibit to any filings with, or otherwise publicly disclose the terms hereof or thereof to, any securities exchange or any other Governmental Entity, the Parties shall use reasonable efforts to coordinate in advance on the form of redacted version of this Agreement or applicable Ancillary Agreement or the terms to be so filed or disclosed and permit the other Party to provide comments and take such comments into account in good faith prior to making such filing.

9.5 <u>Novartis Names and Marks</u>. Purchaser hereby acknowledges that all right, title, and interest in and to the names "Novartis," "Ciba-Geigy," or "Sandoz" and the "Novartis," "Ciba-Geigy," or "Sandoz" logos, together with all variations thereof and all trademarks, service marks, domain names, trade names, trade dress, corporate names, and other identifiers of source containing, incorporating or associated with any of the foregoing (the "**Novartis Names and Marks**") are owned exclusively by Novartis and/or its Affiliates. Purchaser further acknowledges that it has no rights, and is not acquiring any rights, to use the Novartis Names and Marks, except as expressly provided in the Supply Agreement.

9.6 Pharmacovigilance Agreement; Other Obligations.

(a) Negotiation of Pharmacovigilance Agreement. Following the Closing, the Parties shall negotiate in good faith and use their respective reasonable best efforts to negotiate and finalize the Pharmacovigilance Agreement as promptly as practicable, and in any event, before it is required by any jurisdiction in the Territory. Between the Closing Date and the execution of the Pharmacovigilance Agreement, each Party shall (i) notify the other Party in writing within two (2) calendar days of becoming aware of any Adverse Events, complaints, or other safety-related issues with respect to the Products (or Ex-Territory Products, as applicable), and (ii) cooperate with the other Party in investigating any such Adverse Events, complaints, or other safety-related issues.

(b) *Medical and Other Inquiries*. Except to the extent otherwise provided in this Agreement or any Ancillary Agreement, from and after the applicable NDA Transfer Date, Purchaser (i) shall be responsible for handling and responding to all customer complaints and inquiries (including medical and non-medical inquiries) related to the Products, and (ii) shall be responsible for all correspondence and communication with physicians and other health care professionals relating to the Products.

9.7 <u>Transferring of Product NDAs</u>. The Parties shall provide written notice to the FDA before the end of the relevant Phase 1 Period, of the transfer of the applicable Product NDA from Novartis to the Purchaser. Purchaser shall bear (either directly when feasible or by way of reimbursement to Novartis) the Third-Party fees levied by FDA or any other Governmental Entities in the Territory and any other relevant costs for such transfer to Purchaser. For Triesence, the Product NDA shall not be transferred from Novartis to the Purchaser until the prevailing supply chain interruptions impacting that Product have been resolved to Novartis' reasonable satisfaction and the Triesence Commercial Batch Release has occurred. For Vigamox, the Product NDA shall not be transferred from Novartis to the Purchaser until the earlier of: (a) the date on which the Regulatory Authority in China approves the renewal of the authorization(s) necessary to market and sell Vigamox in China, which renewal process is ongoing as at the Closing Date, and (b) twelve (12) months following the Closing Date.

9.8 Maintenance of Product NDAs Pending Notification of Transfer to the FDA.

Until notification of transfer of each Product NDA to the FDA pursuant to Section 9.7:

(a) Novartis shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to maintain the applicable Product NDAs;

(b) Novartis shall be free to continue to pursue those ongoing variations, amendments, and renewals of such Product NDAs which are pending at the Closing Date or withdraw them, at its own discretion; and

(c) Novartis shall not initiate any additional variations or amendments of the Product NDAs, except (i) in the event they are indispensable for the manufacture, sale, marketing, distribution, or other commercialization of the Product; (ii) with respect to the Triesence, to address the prevailing supply chain interruptions impacting that Product and (iii) upon Purchaser's written request.

9.9 <u>Recordations and Filings</u>. Following the Closing Date, Purchaser shall be responsible for and bear, and reimburse Novartis for, any and all costs associated with any recordation of the Patent Assignment Agreement, and the Domain Name and Website Assignment Agreement.

9.10 <u>Authorized Generic Agreement</u>. Following the Closing Date, Purchaser shall negotiate in good faith with Sandoz to agree on an authorized generics agreement which shall entitle Sandoz to continue to commercialize the moxifloxacin hydrochloride (0.5% eq. base) product sold by it in the Territory under the Vigamox® Product NDA as an authorized generic as at the date of this Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, from the Closing Date until an authorized generics agreement is signed between Sandoz and Purchaser, Sandoz shall remain entitled to continue to commercialize the moxifloxacin hydrochloride (0.5% eq. base) product sold by it in the Territory under the Vigamox® Product NDA as an authorized generic sold by it in the Territory under the Vigamox® Product NDA as an authorized generic product under the terms of the authorized generics agreement to which they are a party with respect to the moxifloxacin hydrochloride (0.5% eq. base) product sold by it in the Territory under the Vigamox® Product NDA as at the date of this Agreement.

9.11 <u>Transferred Website</u>. At the end of Phase 1 with respect to Ilevro of the Supply Agreement, Novartis shall transfer to Purchaser the Transferred Website. Purchaser acknowledges and agrees that Purchaser shall remove all Novartis Names and Marks from the Transferred Website immediately following such transfer.

9.12 Accounts Receivable and Payable.

(a) Accounts Receivable. The Parties acknowledge and agree that all accounts receivable outstanding on the Closing Date shall remain the property of Novartis or its Affiliates and shall be collected by Novartis or its Affiliates subsequent to the Closing. In the event that, subsequent to the Closing, Purchaser or an Affiliate of Purchaser receives any payments from any obligor with respect to an account receivable or other payment belonging to Novartis, then Purchaser shall, within thirty (30) calendar days after receipt of such payment, remit the full amount of such payment to Novartis. In the case of the receipt by Purchaser of any payment from any obligor of both Novartis and Purchaser then, unless otherwise specified by such obligor, such payment shall be applied first to amounts owed to Purchaser with the excess, if any, remitted to Novartis. In the event that, subsequent to the Closing Date or other payment belonging to Purchaser, then Novartis shall, within thirty (30) calendar days after receipt of such payment, remit the full amount of such payment, remit the full amount of such payment, remit the full amount of such payment to the Closing. Novartis or any of its Affiliates receives any payments from any obligor with respect to an account receivable of Purchaser for any period after the Closing Date or other payment belonging to Purchaser, then Novartis shall, within thirty (30) calendar days after receipt of such payment, remit the full amount of such payment to Purchaser. In the case of the receipt by Novartis of any payment from any obligor of both Novartis and Purchaser then, unless otherwise specified by such obligor, such payment shall be applied first to amounts owed to Novartis with the excess, if any, remitted to Purchaser.

(b) Accounts Payable. In the event that, subsequent to the Closing, Purchaser or an Affiliate of Purchaser receives any invoices from any Third Party with respect to any account payable of the Transferred Assets outstanding prior to the Closing, then Purchaser shall, within thirty (30) days after receipt of such invoice, provide such invoice to Novartis. In the event that, subsequent to the Closing, Novartis or any of its Affiliates receives any invoices from any Third Party with respect to any account payable of Purchaser or any of its Affiliates for any period after the Closing, then Novartis shall, within thirty (30) calendar days after receipt of such invoice, provide such invoice to Purchaser.

9.13 <u>Wrong Pockets</u>. For a period of up to twelve (12) months after the Closing Date, if either Purchaser or Novartis becomes aware that any of the Transferred Assets have not been transferred to Purchaser or that any of the Excluded Assets have been transferred to Purchaser, it shall promptly notify the other Party in writing and the Parties shall, as soon as reasonably practicable, ensure that such property is transferred, and with any necessary prior Third Party consent or approval, to (a) Purchaser, in the case of any Transferred Asset which was not transferred to Purchaser at the Closing; or (b) Novartis, in the case of any Excluded Asset which was transferred to Purchaser at the Closing.

9.14 <u>Transfer of Books and Records</u>. Novartis and its Affiliates, as applicable, (a) shall provide copies (redacted to the extent necessary to remove any confidential information not related to the Drug Substance of the Products) of books and records that Novartis and its Affiliates are required to retain pursuant to any Law to the extent relating to the Drug Substance of the Products upon Purchaser's reasonable request, and (b) may destroy such books and records in accordance with their prevailing records retention procedures to the extent such books and records are no longer required to maintain by Law so long as Novartis and its Affiliates have previously provided copies of such books and records pursuant to clause (a) of this <u>Section 9.14</u>.

9.15 Preservation of Records; Novartis' Access. For a period of six (6) years after the Closing Date, (a) Purchaser agrees to retain (and to cause its Affiliates to retain) and make available all Records included in the Transferred Assets received from Novartis and its Affiliates for inspection and copying by Novartis, its Affiliates, or any of their respective Representatives, at Novartis' expense, upon reasonable request and upon reasonable notice; provided, that such Records shall be made available only to the extent such availability is required for Novartis or an Affiliate for Tax and accounting purposes, to comply with any requirement of Law, legal, judicial, or administrative process, this Agreement or the Ancillary Agreements, or to enable Novartis or an Affiliate to defend against, respond to, or otherwise participate in any litigation, investigation, audit process, subpoena, or other proceeding related to the Drug Substances and/or the Products, and (b) no such Records shall be destroyed by Purchaser without first advising Novartis in writing and giving Novartis a reasonable opportunity, at Novartis' sole cost, to obtain possession thereof. Any such access by Novartis shall not unreasonably interfere with the conduct of the business of Purchaser and its Affiliates. Novartis shall hold, and shall cause its Representatives to hold, in confidence, unless required by legal, judicial, or administrative process or by other requirements of applicable Law, all confidential documents and information concerning Purchaser or the Drug Substances, Products, Transferred Assets, and Assumed Liabilities provided to it pursuant to this <u>Section 9.15</u>. The Parties acknowledge and agree that Novartis may retain a copy of any Records related to the Drug Substances, Products, Transferred Assets, and Assumed Liabilities for its own corporate records; provided, that the retention shall be subject to the terms of <u>Section 9.3</u> and this <u>Section 9.15</u>.

9.16 Cooperation in Litigation and Investigations. Except as set forth in any Ancillary Agreement, from the Closing Date and until three (3) years from the Closing Date, Purchaser and Novartis shall reasonably cooperate with each other in the defense or prosecution of any claim, action, proceeding, examination, or audit against or by either Party relating to or arising out of the Products (other than any claim, action, proceeding, examination, or audit between Purchaser and Novartis or their respective Affiliates arising out of the transactions contemplated hereby or by the Ancillary Agreements). In connection therewith, and except as set forth in any Ancillary Agreement, from and after the Closing Date, each of Novartis and Purchaser shall make available to the other during normal business hours and upon reasonable prior written notice, but without unreasonably disrupting its business, all records relating exclusively to the Drug Substances, the Products, the Transferred Assets, the Assumed Liabilities, or the Licensed IP held by it and reasonably necessary to permit the defense or investigation of any such any claim, action, proceeding, examination, or audit (other than any claim, action, proceeding, examination, or audit there Party shall be required to make available such documents if such disclosure could, in such records pursuant to <u>Section 9.14</u>; <u>provided</u>, that neither Party shall be required to make available such documents if such disclosure could, in such Party's reasonable discretion, (a) violate applicable Law or any binding agreement, <u>provided</u>, that such Party uses reasonable best efforts to obtain waivers thereof, (b) jeopardize any attorney/client privilege or other established legal privilege, or (c) disclose any trade secrets. The Party requesting such cooperation shall pay the reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses of providing such cooperation (including legal fees and disbursements) incurred by the Party providing such cooperation and by its Representatives, and any applicable Taxe

9.17 <u>Further Assurances</u>. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements, Purchaser and Novartis shall use commercially reasonable efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions and to do, or cause to be done, all things necessary or desirable under applicable Law to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements. Novartis and Purchaser agree to execute and deliver such other documents, certificates, agreements, and other writings and to take such other actions as may be reasonably necessary or desirable in order to consummate or implement expeditiously the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. In furtherance of the foregoing, Purchaser agrees to provide such assurances as to financial capability, resources, and creditworthiness as may be reasonably requested by any Governmental Entity or Third Party whose consent or approval is sought hereunder.

ARTICLE 10 CONDITIONS TO CLOSING

10.1 <u>Conditions to Both Parties' Obligations to Close</u>. The obligations of the Parties to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement at Closing are subject to the fulfillment at or prior to the Closing of the following conditions:

(a) Authorizations. Any applicable waiting period under the HSR Act shall have expired or been terminated.

(b) No Injunctions; Actions. Consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or by the Ancillary Agreements shall not have been restrained, enjoined, or otherwise prohibited or made illegal by any applicable Law.

10.2 <u>Conditions to Purchaser's Obligations to Close</u>. The obligations of Purchaser to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement at Closing are subject to the fulfilment (or waiver by Purchaser) at or prior to the Closing of the following conditions:

(a) *Representations and Warranties*. All representations and warranties of Novartis contained in this Agreement shall be true and correct as of the Closing (disregarding all materiality and "Material Adverse Effect" qualifiers set forth therein) except for such representations and warranties that address matters as of a particular date which need be true only as of the particular date in question, except where the failure of such representations and warranties of Novartis to be true and correct has not had and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect.

(b) No Breach of Covenant. Novartis is not in material breach of the covenants and agreements required to be performed by it hereunder on or prior to the Closing.

(c) *Closing Deliverables*. Novartis shall have delivered or caused to be delivered to Purchaser the deliverables set forth in <u>Section 6.2(b)</u> and <u>Section 6.2(c)</u>.

10.3 <u>Conditions to Novartis' Obligations to Close</u>. The obligations of Novartis to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement at Closing are subject to the fulfilment (or waiver by Novartis) at or prior to the Closing of the following conditions:

(a) *Representations and Warranties*. All representations and warranties of Purchaser contained in this Agreement shall be true and correct in all material respects (in the case of any representation or warranty without any materiality qualification) or in all respects (in the case of any representation), as of the Closing except for such representations and warranties that address matters as of a particular date which need be true and correct in all material respects (in the case of any representation) or in all respects (in the case of any representation) or in all respects (in the case of any representation) or in all respects (in the case of any representation) or in all respects (in the case of any representation or warranty containing any materiality qualification) or in all respects (in the case of any representation or warranty containing any materiality qualification) or in all respects (in the case of any representation or warranty containing any materiality qualification) or in all respects (in the case of any representation or warranty containing any materiality qualification) or in all respects (in the case of any representation or warranty containing any materiality qualification) only as of the particular date in question.

(b) No Breach of Covenant. Purchaser is not in material breach of the covenants and agreements required to be performed by it hereunder on or prior to the Closing.

(c) Closing Deliverables. Purchaser shall have delivered or caused to be delivered to Novartis the deliverables set forth in Section 6.2.

ARTICLE 11 TERMINATION

11.1 Termination. This Agreement may be terminated and the transactions contemplated hereby may be abandoned, prior to the Closing:

(a) at any time, by mutual written agreement of Novartis and Purchaser;

(b) at any time after the date that falls twelve (12) months after the date of this Agreement (the "**Termination Date**"), by Novartis upon written notice to Purchaser, if the Closing shall not have occurred for any reason other than a breach of this Agreement by Novartis; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that Novartis may not terminate this Agreement pursuant to this <u>Section 11.1(b)</u> if Novartis is then in material breach of the covenants and agreements required to be performed by it hereunder on or prior to the Closing;

(c) by Novartis if there shall have been a breach by Purchaser of any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement set forth in this Agreement, which breach (i) would give rise to the failure of a condition to the Closing hereunder in favor of Novartis, and (ii) cannot be cured, or has not been cured within thirty (30) calendar days following receipt by Purchaser of written notice of such breach; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that the right to terminate this Agreement under this <u>Section 11.1(c)</u> shall not be available if Novartis is then in material breach of any of its representations, warranties, covenants, obligations, or other agreements contained in this Agreement;

(d) by Purchaser if there shall have been a breach by Novartis of any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement set forth in this Agreement, which breach (i) would give rise to the failure of a condition to the Closing hereunder in favor of Purchaser, and (ii) cannot be cured, or has not been cured within thirty (30) calendar days following receipt by Novartis of written notice of such breach; provided, however, that the right to terminate this Agreement under this Section 11.1(d) shall not be available if Purchaser is then in material breach of any of its representations, warranties, covenants, obligations, or other agreements contained in this Agreement;

(e) by either Purchaser or Novartis, upon delivery of written notice to the other, if a court of competent jurisdiction or other Governmental Entity shall have issued an order, judgment, decree, injunction, or ruling permanently restraining or prohibiting the transactions contemplated by the Agreement, and such order, judgment, decree, injunction, or ruling shall have become final and nonappealable;

(f) by Novartis, upon written notice to Purchaser, in the event of a Change of Control of Purchaser prior to the Closing Date; it being understood and agreed that Purchaser shall promptly notify Novartis of any such Change of Control and provide Novartis any reasonably requested information related thereto.

11.2 Effect of Termination. In the event of termination by either Party pursuant to Section 11.1, written notice thereof will forthwith be given to the other Party and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement will be terminated, without further action by any Party. If the transactions contemplated by this Agreement are terminated as provided herein, this Agreement shall become null and void and have no further force and effect and all obligations of the Parties under this Agreement shall terminate and there shall be no liability of any Party to any other Party, except that (a) Section 9.2(b), Section 9.3 (excluding, solely with regard to the obligations of Novartis therein, any obligations in respect of Confidential Information described in clause (1) thereof), this Section 11.2 and ARTICLE 13 and ARTICLE 1 (to the extent defined terms therein are referenced in any of the foregoing Sections or Article) shall survive any such termination of this Agreement, and (b) nothing herein will relieve or release any Party from liability arising from any willful or intentional breach by such Party of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 12 INDEMNIFICATION; SURVIVAL

12.1 <u>Survival</u>. The agreements and covenants to be performed prior to Closing by Novartis and representations and warranties made by Novartis contained in this Agreement, other than the Novartis Fundamental Representations, each shall survive the Closing until the date that is eighteen (18) months after the Closing Date. The agreements and covenants to be performed prior to Closing by Purchaser and representations and warranties made by Purchaser contained in this Agreement, other than the Purchaser Fundamental Representations, shall survive the Closing until the date that is eighteen (18) months after the Closing Date. The Novartis Fundamental Representations and Purchaser Fundamental Representations shall survive the Closing until the date that is eighteen (18) months after the Closing Date. The Novartis Fundamental Representations and Purchaser Fundamental Representations shall survive the Closing until the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations. The covenants and agreements of the Parties contained in this Agreement that are to be performed at or following the Closing shall survive the Closing until fully performed. Upon expiration of the applicable survival period, no indemnification of other claim may be brought by a Party alleging misrepresentation or breach of the applicable representation, warranty, covenant, or agreement, unless prior to the expiration of such applicable survival period the claiming Party shall have provided a written notice to the other Party describing such alleged breach or misrepresentation with reasonable specificity.

12.2 <u>Indemnification by Novartis</u>. Subject to the limitations set forth elsewhere in this <u>ARTICLE 12</u>, from and after the Closing, Novartis shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless Purchaser and its Affiliates and their respective officers, directors, and employees (collectively, the "**Purchaser Indemnified Parties**") from and against any Losses suffered or incurred by the Purchaser Indemnified Parties to the extent that such Losses are arising out of or resulting from the following:

(a) the inaccuracy or breach of any representation or warranty made by Novartis contained in this Agreement or in any Ancillary Agreement or in any certificate or other instrument delivered by Novartis or any of its Affiliates pursuant to this Agreement or any Ancillary Agreement;

(b) the breach of or failure to perform any covenant or agreement by Novartis or any of its Affiliates contained in this Agreement or in any Ancillary Agreement; or

(c) any Excluded Asset or any Excluded Liabilities.

12.3 Indemnification by Purchaser. Subject to the limitations set forth elsewhere in this <u>ARTICLE 12</u>, from and after the Closing, Purchaser shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless Novartis and its Affiliates and their respective officers, directors, and employees (collectively, the "**Novartis Indemnified Parties**") from and against any Losses suffered or incurred by the Novartis Indemnified Parties to the extent that such Losses are arising out of or resulting from the following:

(a) the inaccuracy or breach of any representation or warranty made by Purchaser contained in this Agreement or in any Ancillary Agreement or in any certificate or other instrument delivered by Purchaser or any of its Affiliates pursuant to this Agreement or any Ancillary Agreement;

(b) the breach of or failure to perform any covenant or agreement by Purchaser or any of its Affiliates contained in this Agreement or in any Ancillary Agreement;

- (c) any and all Assumed Liabilities; or
- (d) any Transfer Taxes.
- 12.4 Limitations on Amounts of Losses. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary:

(a) The maximum aggregate liability of Novartis for Losses arising out of one or more Products pursuant to <u>Section 12.2(a)</u> and <u>Section 12.2(a)</u> shall be limited to ten percent (10%) of the Product Purchase Price for such Product or Products; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that the foregoing limitation on liability shall not apply to Losses pursuant to <u>Section 12.2(a)</u> in respect of Novartis Fundamental Representations, for which the maximum aggregate liability of Novartis for Losses arising out of one or more Products shall not exceed the sum of the Product Purchase Price actually paid by the Purchaser to Novartis for such Product or Products.

(b) The maximum aggregate liability of Purchaser for Losses arising out of one or more Products pursuant to <u>Section 12.3(a)</u> and <u>Section 12.3(b)</u> shall not exceed the sum of the Product Purchase Price actually paid by the Purchaser to Novartis for such Product or Products.

(c) Neither party shall be liable for Losses resulting from any individual misrepresentation or breach of representation or warranty (each, a "**Warranty Breach**") pursuant to <u>Section 12.2(a)</u>, unless the aggregate amount of Losses with respect to any such individual Warranty Breach exceeds one half of one percent (0.5%) of the Purchase Price (each, a "**Qualifying Loss**"); and for any Qualifying Loss unless the aggregate amount of all Qualifying Losses exceeds one percent (1%) of the Purchase Price, in which case the liable Party shall be liable only to the extent of that excess; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that the limitations on liability in this <u>Section 12.4(c)</u> shall not apply to Losses pursuant to <u>Section 12.2(a)</u> in respect of Novartis Fundamental Representations or Purchaser Fundamental Representations.

(d) Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, with respect to any indemnification obligation hereunder arising under any Ancillary Agreement, such indemnification obligation shall be subject to any applicable limitation on liability set forth in such Ancillary Agreement.

12.5 Other Limitations on Indemnification. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary:

(a) All Losses for which any Indemnified Party would otherwise be entitled to indemnification under this <u>ARTICLE 12</u> shall be reduced by the amount of insurance proceeds, indemnification payments, and other Third-Party recoveries to which such Indemnified Party actually receives (less any reasonable costs and expenses, including the aggregate cost of pursuing any related insurance claims in obtaining such amounts) in respect of any Losses incurred by such Indemnified Party. In the event any Indemnified Party is entitled to any insurance proceeds, indemnity payments, or any Third-Party recoveries in respect of any Losses for which such Indemnified Party is entitled to indemnification pursuant to this <u>ARTICLE 12</u>, such Indemnified Party shall use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain, receive, or realize such proceeds, payments, or recoveries. In the event that any such insurance proceeds, indemnified Party subsequent to receipt by such Indemnified Party of any indemnification payment hereunder in respect of the claims to which such insurance proceeds, indemnity payments, or other Third-Party recoveries relate, appropriate refunds shall be made promptly by the relevant Indemnified Parties for such reduction in Losses for which the Indemnified Party was indemnified prior to the realization of reduction of such Losses.

(b) For purposes of this <u>ARTICLE 12</u>, any inaccuracy in or breach of any representation or warranty shall be determined without regard to any materiality, Material Adverse Effect or other similar qualification contained in or otherwise applicable to such representation or warranty.

12.6 Procedures.

(a) A claim for indemnification for any matter not involving a Third-Party Claim may be asserted by written notice to the Party from whom indemnification is sought.

(b) Promptly after a Person entitled to indemnification hereunder (the "Indemnified Party") has received notice or has knowledge of any Third-Party claim, demand, action or proceeding, or threatened claim, demand, action or proceeding (a "Third-Party Claim") which could result in a Loss for which such Party may be entitled to indemnification under this <u>ARTICLE 12</u>, the Indemnified Party shall promptly deliver to the Party against whom indemnification is sought under this <u>ARTICLE 12</u> (the "Indemnifying Party") written notice of such Third-Party Claim (the "Claim Notice"), which Claim Notice shall include, to the extent known, the nature and basis of such Third-Party Claim, the basis for indemnification hereunder, and the amount in dispute under such Third-Party Claim; provided, however, that the failure of the Indemnified Party to provide the Claim Notice shall not release or waive the Indemnifying Party from its obligations to the Indemnified Party under this <u>ARTICLE 12</u> except to the extent that the Indemnifying Party is actually prejudiced as a result of such failure.

(c) Following receipt of the Claim Notice, the Indemnifying Party may elect at any time to assume and thereafter conduct the defense and settlement, of any Third-Party Claim subject to any such indemnification claim with counsel of the Indemnifying Party's choice and to settle or compromise any such Third-Party Claim, and the Indemnified Party shall cooperate in all respects with the conduct of such defense by the Indemnifying Party and/or the settlement of such Third-Party Claim by the Indemnifying Party; provided, however, that the Indemnifying Party will not approve of the entry of any judgment or enter into any settlement or compromise with respect to the Third-Party Claim without the Indemnified Party's prior written approval (which shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or delayed), unless the terms of such settlement provide for a complete release of the claims that are the subject of such action, claim, or proceeding in favor of the Indemnified Party. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Indemnified Party shall have the right to control the defense of, and the Indemnifying Party shall not be entitled to assume the defense of, any Third-Party Claim that seeks relief other than monetary damages against the Indemnified Party and that the Indemnified Party reasonably determines, after conferring with its outside counsel, cannot be separated from any related claim for money damages.

(d) The Parties agree to cooperate fully in connection with the defense, negotiation, or settlement of any claim for indemnification arising from a Third-Party Claim. Such cooperation will include the retention and, upon the request of the party defending, negotiating or settling the claim, the provision to such party of records and information which are reasonably relevant to such Third-Party Claim, and making employees and other Representatives reasonably available on a mutually convenient basis to provide additional information and explanation of any materials provided hereunder.

(e) If the Indemnifying Party fails or refuses to undertake the defense of such Third-Party Claim within sixty (60) calendar days after the claim for indemnification has been tendered to the Indemnifying Party by the Indemnified Party, pursuant to and in accordance with <u>Section 12.6(c)</u>, or if the Indemnifying Party later fails to conduct in good faith the defense or withdraws from such defense, the Indemnified Party shall have the right to (i) undertake the defense of such claim with counsel of its own choosing, with the Indemnifying Party being responsible for the reasonable costs and expenses of such defense as Losses hereunder if and to the extent that such claim is determined to be a claim for which such Indemnified Party is entitled to be defended, indemnified, held harmless or reimbursed under this <u>ARTICLE 12</u>, and (ii) settle or compromise, or attempt to settle or compromise, the Third-Party Claim; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that the Indemnified Party shall not settle or compromise such Third-Party Claim without the Indemnifying Party's prior written consent (which shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or delayed).

12.7 <u>Tax Treatment</u>. To the extent permitted by applicable Law, Purchaser and Novartis agree to treat any payments made pursuant to the indemnification provisions of this Agreement as an adjustment to the Purchase Price for Tax purposes.

12.8 Exclusive Remedy. Except in respect of Fraud, from and after the Closing, the indemnification provisions contained in this <u>ARTICLE 12</u> will constitute the sole and exclusive recourse and remedy of the Parties with respect to any claim arising from this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby, whether by contract, tort or otherwise. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the provisions of this <u>ARTICLE 12</u> will not restrict the right of any Party to seek specific performance or other equitable remedies in connections with any breach of any of the covenants contained in this Agreement. The Parties agree that the provisions in this Agreement relating to indemnification, and the limits imposed on the Indemnified Parties' remedies with respect to this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby were specifically bargained for between sophisticated parties and were specifically taken into account in the determination of the amounts to be paid hereunder.

12.9 <u>No Setoff Rights</u>. Neither Party shall have any right of setoff of any amounts due and payable, or any Liabilities arising, under this Agreement against any other amounts due and payable under this Agreement or any amounts due and payable, or any Liabilities arising, under any Ancillary Agreement. The payment obligations under each of this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements remain independent obligations of each Party, irrespective of any amounts owed to any other Party under this Agreement or the respective Ancillary Agreements.

ARTICLE 13 MISCELLANEOUS

13.1 <u>Expenses</u>. Except as expressly provided herein or in any Ancillary Agreement, all costs and expenses incurred in connection with this Agreement, the Ancillary Agreements, and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby shall be paid by the Party incurring such costs and expenses.

13.2 <u>Waiver and Amendment</u>. The failure of any Party to assert a right hereunder or to insist upon compliance with any term or condition of this Agreement shall not constitute a waiver of that right or excuse a similar subsequent failure to perform any such term or condition by the other Party. No waiver shall be effective unless it has been given in writing and signed by the Party giving such waiver. No provision of this Agreement may be amended or modified except by an instrument in writing signed by each of the Parties.

13.3 Entire Agreement. This Agreement, including the annexes, schedules, and exhibits attached hereto which are deemed for all purposes to be part of this Agreement, the Ancillary Agreements, and any other documents delivered pursuant to this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements, constitute the entire agreement among the Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and thereof and supersedes all prior communications, representations, agreements, representations, warranties, promises, covenants, or arrangements among the Parties hereto with respect to the transactions contemplated hereby, other than those expressly set forth in this Agreement, the Ancillary Agreements, and any other documents delivered pursuant to this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements.

13.4 Headings. The headings contained in this Agreement are intended solely for convenience and shall not affect the rights of the Parties.

13.5 <u>Notices</u>. All notices, consents, waivers and other communications given or made pursuant to this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed effectively given upon the earlier of actual receipt, or (a) personal delivery to the Party to be notified, (b) upon receipt of delivery confirmation, if sent by electronic mail, or (c) one (1) Business Day (if recipient is located in the country in which sender is located) or two (2) Business Days (if recipient is located) after deposit with an internationally recognized overnight courier, freight prepaid, specifying next Business Day delivery, providing proof of delivery. The recipient shall promptly confirm its receipt of any such electronic mail. All communications shall be sent to the respective Parties as set forth below or to such other Person or address as any Party shall specify by notice in writing to the other Party.

If to Novartis:

Novartis Technology LLC

With copies (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Novartis AG

If to Purchaser:

Harrow Health, Inc. Harrow Eye, LLC Harrow IP, LLC

With a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Polsinelli PC

13.6 <u>Binding Effect; Assignment</u>. This Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the Parties and their permitted successors and assigns. No Party may assign or delegate, by operation of law or otherwise, all or any portion of its rights, obligations, or liabilities under this Agreement without the prior written consent of the other Party; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that: (a) Purchaser may assign its rights and obligations under this Agreement or any part hereof to one or more of its Affiliates without the consent of Novartis; and (b) Novartis may (i) assign this Agreement in its entirety to a successor to all or substantially all of its business or assets to which this Agreement relates. Notwithstanding the foregoing, at any time after the end of the applicable Phase 1 Period for each Product, Purchaser may assign its rights and obligations under of a Third Party successor in interest to all or substantially all of Purchaser's business or assets related to such Product, in each case, without the consent of Novartis. Notwithstanding the foregoing or anything to the contrary in this Agreement, Purchaser shall be permitted, without the consent of Novartis, to assign any or all of its rights pursuant to this Agreement to its lenders (or any agent therefor) as collateral security; provided that (i) notwithstanding any such assignment, Purchaser shall remain responsible for all of their respective obligations hereunder, and (ii) such financing sources shall have no greater rights hereunder than Purchaser. Any permitted assignment shall relieve the assignor of liability hereunder. Any purported assignment without such prior written consent shall be void and of no force or effect.

13.7 <u>No Third Party Beneficiary</u>. Except for the rights of the Novartis Indemnified Parties and the Purchaser Indemnified Parties under <u>ARTICLE</u> <u>12</u>, nothing in this Agreement shall confer any rights, remedies or claims upon any Person or entity not a Party or a permitted assignee of a Party.

13.8 <u>Counterparts</u>. This Agreement may be signed in any number of counterparts with the same effect as if the signatures to each counterpart were upon a single instrument, and all such counterparts together shall be deemed an original of this Agreement. Delivery of an executed counterpart of this Agreement by facsimile transmission or by electronic mail in portable document format (.pdf) shall be as effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart hereof.

13.9 <u>Force Majeure</u>. If and to the extent that either Party is prevented or delayed by Force Majeure from performing any of its obligations under this Agreement and promptly so notifies in writing the other Party, specifying the matters constituting Force Majeure together with such evidence in verification thereof as it can reasonably provide and specifying the period for which it is estimated that the prevention or delay will continue, then the Party so affected shall be relieved of liability to the other for failure to perform or for delay in performing such obligations (as the case may be), but shall nevertheless use its commercially reasonable efforts to resume full performance thereof.

13.10 <u>Governing Law and Jurisdiction</u>. This Agreement and any claim or controversy hereunder shall be governed by and construed under the Laws of the State of New York, without giving effect to the conflict of laws provision thereof. Any claim or dispute arising out of or relating to this Agreement shall be subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York, so long as it shall have subject matter jurisdiction over such claim or dispute and otherwise the state courts located in the State of New York. Each Party irrevocably agrees and consents to the jurisdiction of the courts set forth in this <u>Section 13.10</u> and waives any objection it may have to the venue of such courts, including with respect to the convenience of the forum and jurisdiction.

13.11 <u>WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL</u>. EACH OF THE PARTIES HEREBY IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY RIGHT IT MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING (WHETHER BASED ON CONTRACT, TORT, OR ANY OTHER THEORY) DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT, ANY ANCILLARY AGREEMENT, THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY AND THEREBY, OR THE NEGOTIATION, ADMINISTRATION, PERFORMANCE, OR ENFORCEMENT HEREOF OR THEREOF. EACH PARTY HERETO (A) CERTIFIES THAT NO REPRESENTATIVE, AGENT, OR ATTORNEY OF ANY OTHER PARTY HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT SUCH OTHER PARTY WOULD NOT, IN THE EVENT OF LITIGATION, SEEK TO ENFORCE THE FOREGOING WAIVER, AND (B) ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT AND THE OTHER PARTY HERETO HAVE BEEN INDUCED TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT BY, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE MUTUAL WAIVERS AND CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS SECTION.

13.12 <u>Severability</u>. If any term, provision, agreement, covenant, or restriction of this Agreement is held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void, or unenforceable, the remainder of the terms, provisions, agreements, covenants, and restrictions of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect and shall in no way be affected, impaired, or invalidated. Upon such a determination, the Parties shall negotiate in good faith to modify this Agreement so as to affect the original intent of the Parties as closely as possible in a reasonably acceptable manner so that the transactions contemplated hereby may be consummated as originally contemplated to the fullest extent possible.

13.13 <u>Specific Performance</u>. The Parties agree that irreparable damage would occur if any provision of this Agreement were not performed in accordance with the terms hereof and that the Parties shall be entitled to specific performance of the terms hereof, in addition to any other remedy to which they are entitled at law or in equity. It is therefore agreed that the Parties shall be entitled to seek a temporary, preliminary, and/or permanent injunction or injunctions to prevent breaches of this Agreement and to enforce specifically the performance of the terms of this Agreement, without posting any bond or other undertaking, in addition to any other remedy to which they are entitled at law or in equity.

13.14 <u>Relationship of the Parties</u>. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be deemed to constitute a partnership, joint venture, or legal entity of any type between Novartis and Purchaser, or to constitute one as the agent of the other. Moreover, each Party agrees not to construe this Agreement, or any of the transactions contemplated hereby, as a partnership for any Tax purposes. Each Party shall act solely as an independent contractor, and nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to give any Party the power or authority to act for, bind or commit the other.

13.15 Extension to Affiliates. Novartis shall have the right to extend the rights, immunities, and obligations granted in this Agreement to one or more of its Affiliates. All applicable terms and provisions of this Agreement shall apply to any such Affiliate to which this Agreement has been extended to the same extent as such terms and provisions apply to Novartis. Novartis shall remain primarily liable for any acts or omissions of its Affiliates.

13.16 <u>English Language</u>. This Agreement is written and executed in the English language. Any translation into any other language shall not be an official version of this Agreement and in the event of any conflict in interpretation between the English version and such translation, the English version shall prevail.

13.17 <u>Construction</u>. The Parties agree that the terms and conditions of this Agreement are the result of negotiations among the Parties and that this Agreement shall not be construed in favor of or against any Party by reason of the extent to which any Party participated in its preparation.

13.18 No Recourse Against Nonparty Affiliates. All claims, obligations, liabilities, or causes of action (whether in contract or in tort, in law or in equity, or granted by statute) that may be based upon, in respect of, arise under, out or by reason of, be connected with, or relate in any manner to this Agreement, or the negotiation, execution, or performance of this Agreement (including any representation or warranty made in, in connection with, or as an inducement to, this Agreement), may be made only against (and are those solely of) the entities that are expressly identified as Parties in the preamble to this Agreement (or their permitted assignees) ("Contracting Party"). No Person who is not a Contracting Party, including any director, officer, employee, incorporator, member, partner, manager, unitholder, stockholder, Affiliate, agent, attorney, or representative of, and any financial advisor or lender to, any Contracting Party, or any director, officer, employee, incorporator, member, partner, manager, unitholder, stockholder, Affiliate, agent, attorney, or representative of, and any financial advisor or lender to, any of the foregoing ("Nonparty Affiliates"), shall have any liability (whether in contract or in tort, in law or in equity, or granted by statute) for any claims, causes of action, obligations, or liabilities arising under, out of, in connection with, or related in any manner to this Agreement or based on, in respect of, or by reason of this Agreement or its negotiation, execution, performance, or breach; and, to the maximum extent permitted by Law, each Contracting Party hereby waives and releases all such liabilities, claims, causes of action, and obligations against any such Nonparty Affiliates. Without limiting the foregoing, to the maximum extent permitted by Law, (a) each Contracting Party hereby waives and releases any and all rights, claims, demands, or causes of action that may otherwise be available at law or in equity, or granted by statute, to avoid or disregard the entity form of a Contracting Party or otherwise impose liability of a Contracting Party on any Nonparty Affiliate, whether granted by statute or based on theories of equity, agency, control, instrumentality, alter ego, domination, sham, single business enterprise, piercing the veil, unfairness, undercapitalization, or otherwise; and (b) each Contracting Party disclaims any reliance upon any Nonparty Affiliates with respect to the performance of this Agreement or any representation or warranty made in, in connection with, or as an inducement to this Agreement.

13.19 <u>Novartis Disclosure Schedule</u>. All capitalized terms not defined in the Novartis Disclosure Schedule shall have the meanings ascribed to them in this Agreement. The representations, warranties, covenants, and agreements of Novartis set forth in this Agreement are made and given subject to, and are qualified by, the Novartis Disclosure Schedule. Any disclosure set forth in one section or subsection of the Novartis Disclosure Schedule shall be deemed to apply to and qualify the section or subsection of this Agreement to which it corresponds in number and each other section or subsection of this Agreement to the extent that it is reasonably apparent on its face that such information is relevant to such other section or subsection. The Novartis Disclosure Schedule may include brief descriptions or summaries of certain agreements and instruments. The descriptions or summaries do not purport to be comprehensive and are qualified in their entirety by reference to the text of the documents described to the extent such text has been provided to Purchaser prior to the date hereof. No disclosure set forth in the Novartis Disclosure Schedule relating to any possible breach or violation of any contract or Law shall be construed as an admission or indication that any such breach or violation exists or has actually occurred. The inclusion of any information in the Novartis Disclosure Schedule shall not be deemed to be an admission or acknowledgment that such information (a) is required by the terms of this Agreement to be disclosed, (b) is material, (c) has resulted in or would result in a Material Adverse Effect, or (d) that such information creates a measure of materiality for purposes of this Agreement.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have executed and delivered this Agreement as of the date first above written.

PURCHASER:

HARROW HEALTH, INC.

By: /s/ Mark L. Baum Name: Mark L. Baum

Title: CEO

HARROW EYE, LLC

By: /s/ Andrew R. Boll

Name: Andrew R. Boll Title: VP

HARROW IP, LLC

By: /s/ Mark L. Baum

Name: Mark L. Baum Title: CEO IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have executed and delivered this Agreement as of the date first above written.

NOVARTIS:

NOVARTIS TECHNOLOGY LLC

By: /s/ Eduard Marti Name: Eduard Marti

Title: Vice President & Treasurer

NOVARTIS INNOVATIVE THERAPIES AG

By: /s/ Eric Careau

Name: Eric Careau Title: Director Divestments

By: /s/ Michael Stewart

Name: Michael Stewart Title: Lead Legal Counsel



Harrow Enters into Agreement to Acquire Exclusive U.S. Rights to ILEVRO[®], NEVANAC[®], VIGAMOX[®], MAXIDEX[®], and TRIESENCE[®]

NASHVILLE, Tenn., December 14, 2022 – Harrow (Nasdaq: HROW), an eyecare pharmaceutical company exclusively focused on the discovery, development, and commercialization of innovative ophthalmic therapies, today announced that it has entered into a binding agreement for the acquisition of the exclusive U.S. commercial rights to five FDA-approved ophthalmic products from the Novartis group of companies ("Novartis"). This acquisition, when closed, will further expand and diversify Harrow's portfolio of branded pharmaceutical products and its ability to serve the U.S. ophthalmic surgical and acute care markets. Subject to customary closing conditions, this acquisition is expected to close in early 2023.

This transaction, which is the second acquisition transaction between Harrow and Novartis, transfers exclusive U.S. rights to the following ophthalmic products:

- ILEVRO[®] (nepafenac ophthalmic suspension) 0.3%, a non-steroidal, anti-inflammatory eye drop indicated for pain and inflammation associated with cataract surgery.
- NEVANAC[®] (nepafenac ophthalmic suspension) 0.1%, a non-steroidal, anti-inflammatory eye drop indicated for pain and inflammation associated with cataract surgery.
- VIGAMOX[®] (moxifloxacin hydrochloride ophthalmic solution) 0.5%, a fluoroquinolone antibiotic eye drop for the treatment of bacterial conjunctivitis caused by susceptible strains of organisms.
- MAXIDEX[®] (dexamethasone ophthalmic suspension) 0.1%, a steroid eye drop for steroid-responsive inflammatory conditions of the palpebral and bulbar conjunctiva, cornea, and anterior segment of the globe.
- TRIESENCE[®] (triamcinolone acetonide injectable suspension) 40 mg/ml, a steroid injection for the treatment of certain ophthalmic diseases and for visualization during vitrectomy.

Mark L. Baum, Chairman and CEO of Harrow, stated, "This is a landmark transaction for Harrow, catapulting Harrow into a leadership position in the U.S. ophthalmic pharmaceuticals market. Following the satisfaction of the relevant closing conditions, these products will be immediately accretive to our revenues and excellently complement our current portfolio of ophthalmic prescription products.

"We know these products very well and have long appreciated and admired them for the value they have delivered to thousands of U.S. eyecare professionals and many millions of their patients. We believe the addition of these five products to our ophthalmic pharmaceutical portfolio, which includes newly FDA-approved <u>IHEEZO</u>[®], MAXITROL[®] 3.5mg/10,000 units/0.1%, IOPIDINE® 1%, and the market-leading <u>ImprimisRx</u> compounded formulary, will be of tremendous value to our customers – giving them more choices and flexibility when considering the best treatment options for their patients and the specific needs of their practices.

"Our market research indicates an increasing demand for the indications these products treat. Based on U.S. demographic growth, favorable competitive trends, and broad public and private payor reimbursement, revenue contribution from these products is expected to grow for many years. Assuming this transaction closes during the first quarter of 2023, Harrow expects 2023 net revenues to be between \$135 million and \$143 million and adjusted EBITDA to be between \$44 million and \$50 million, with both net revenues and adjusted EBITDA ramping up during 2024 and beyond."

-MORE-

HROW to Acquire Exclusive U.S. Rights to ILEVRO[®], NEVANAC[®], VIGAMOX[®], MAXIDEX[®], and TRIESENCE[®] Page 2 December 14, 2022

Under the terms of the agreement:

- Harrow will make a one-time payment of \$130 million at closing, with up to an additional \$45 million payable in a milestone payment upon the commercial availability of TRIESENCE, which is expected in the second half of 2023.
- During an estimated 6-month NDA transfer period, Novartis will continue to sell the products in the U.S. market and will transfer all net profits to Harrow.
- Following the NDA transfer period, Harrow will assume control over all U.S. market activities and will begin a process to have the products manufactured by third parties.
- Novartis will retain all rights to the products outside of the U.S.
- The transaction is expected to close in the first quarter of 2023, subject to the satisfaction of customary closing conditions, including clearance under the Hart-Scott Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act.

About ILEVRO[®] (nepafenac ophthalmic suspension) 0.3%:

INDICATIONS AND USAGE

ILEVRO[®] (nepafenac ophthalmic suspension) 0.3% is a nonsteroidal, anti-inflammatory prodrug indicated for the treatment of pain and inflammation associated with cataract surgery.

IMPORTANT SAFETY INFORMATION

Contraindications

ILEVRO[®] 0.3% is contraindicated in patients with previously demonstrated hypersensitivity to any of the ingredients in the formula or to other nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs).

Warnings and Precautions

- Increased Bleeding Time There exists the potential for increased bleeding time. Ocularly applied NSAIDs may cause increased bleeding of ocular tissues (including hyphema) in conjunction with ocular surgery.
- Delayed Healing Use may slow or delay healing. Concomitant use of topical NSAIDs and topical steroids may increase the potential for healing problems.
- *Corneal Effects* Use may result in keratitis. In some patients, continued use of topical NSAIDs may result in epithelial breakdown, corneal thinning, corneal erosion, corneal ulceration, or corneal perforation. These events may be sight threatening.
- Patients with complicated ocular surgeries, corneal denervation, corneal epithelial defects, diabetes mellitus, ocular surface diseases (e.g., dry eye syndrome), rheumatoid arthritis, or repeat ocular surgeries within a short period of time may be at increased risk for corneal adverse events, which may become sight threatening.
- Use more than 1 day prior to surgery or use beyond 14 days post-surgery may increase patient risk and severity of corneal adverse events.
- Contact Lens Wear ILEVRO® 0.3% should not be administered while using contact lenses.

Adverse Reactions

The most frequently reported ocular adverse reactions following cataract surgery occurring in approximately 5% to 10% of patients were capsular opacity, decreased visual acuity, foreign body sensation, increased intraocular pressure, and sticky sensation.

For complete product information about ILEVRO[®] 0.3%, including important safety information, please visit: <u>https://dailymed.nlm.nih.gov/dailymed/drugInfo.cfm?setid=f089b583-0310-4ca8-8d41-52b06b08d1ed.</u>

About NEVANAC[®] (nepafenac ophthalmic suspension) 0.1%:

INDICATIONS AND USAGE

NEVANAC® is a nonsteroidal, anti-inflammatory prodrug indicated for the treatment of pain and inflammation associated with cataract surgery.

IMPORTANT SAFETY INFORMATION

Contraindications

Hypersensitivity to any of the ingredients in the formula or to other non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDS).

Warnings and Precautions

- Increased Bleeding Time There exists the potential for increased bleeding time due to interference with thrombocyte aggregation. There have been reports that ocularly applied NSAIDs may cause increased bleeding of ocular tissues (including hyphema) in conjunction with ocular surgery.
- Delayed Healing Use may slow or delay healing. Concomitant use of topical NSAIDs and topical steroids may increase the potential for healing problems.
- Corneal Effects Use may result in keratitis. In some susceptible patients, continued use of topical NSAIDs may result in epithelial breakdown, corneal thinning, corneal erosion, corneal ulceration, or corneal perforation. These events may be sight threatening.
- Postmarketing experience with topical NSAIDs suggests that patients with complicated ocular surgeries, corneal denervation, corneal epithelial defects, diabetes mellitus, ocular surface diseases (e.g., dry eye syndrome), rheumatoid arthritis, or repeat ocular surgeries within a short period of time may be at increased risk for corneal adverse events, which may become sight threatening.
- Postmarketing experience with topical NSAIDs also suggests that use more than 1 day prior to surgery or use beyond 14 days post-surgery may increase patient risk and severity of corneal adverse events.
- Contact Lens Wear NEVANAC[®] 0.1% should not be administered while using contact lenses.

Adverse Reactions

Most common adverse reactions (5% to 10%) are capsular opacity, decreased visual acuity, foreign body sensation, increased intraocular pressure (IOP), and sticky sensation.

For complete product information about NEVANAC[®], including important safety information, please visit: <u>https://dailymed.nlm.nih.gov/dailymed/drugInfo.cfm?setid=a2909252-c5f1-421f-9073-b7be90b45b51.</u>

About VIGAMOX[®] (moxifloxacin hydrochloride ophthalmic solution) 0.5%:

INDICATIONS AND USAGE

VIGAMOX[®] is a topical fluoroquinolone anti-infective indicated for the treatment of bacterial conjunctivitis caused by susceptible strains of the following organisms: Corynebacterium species*, Micrococcus luteus*, Staphylococcus aureus, Staphylococcus epidermidis, Staphylococcus haemolyticus, Staphylococcus hominis, Staphylococcus warneri*, Streptococcus pneumoniae, Streptococcus viridans group, Acinetobacter lwoffii*, Haemophilus influenzae, Haemophilus parainfluenzae*, and Chlamydia trachomatis.

*Efficacy for this organism was studied in fewer than 10 infections.

IMPORTANT SAFETY INFORMATION

Contraindications

VIGAMOX[®] is contraindicated in patients with a history of hypersensitivity to moxifloxacin, to other quinolones, or to any of the components in this medication.

Warnings and Precautions

- Hypersensitivity Reactions Hypersensitivity and anaphylaxis have been reported with systemic use of moxifloxacin.
- Prolonged Use May result in overgrowth of non-susceptible organisms, including fungi.
- Avoid Contact Lens Wear Patients should not wear contact lenses if they have signs or symptoms of bacterial conjunctivitis.

HROW to Acquire Exclusive U.S. Rights to ILEVRO[®], NEVANAC[®], VIGAMOX[®], MAXIDEX[®], and TRIESENCE[®] Page 4 December 14, 2022

Adverse Reactions

The most frequently reported ocular adverse events were conjunctivitis, decreased visual acuity, dry eye, keratitis, ocular discomfort, ocular hyperemia, ocular pain, ocular pruritus, subconjunctival hemorrhage, and tearing. These events occurred in approximately 1%-6% of patients.

Nonocular adverse events reported at a rate of 1%-4% were fever, increased cough, infection, otitis media, pharyngitis, rash, and rhinitis.

For complete product information about VIGAMOX[®], including important safety information, please visit: <u>https://dailymed.nlm.nih.gov/dailymed/drugInfo.cfm?setid=ad783689-2b59-448c-b0d6-e8b70cf8b062.</u>

About MAXIDEX[®] (dexamethasone ophthalmic suspension) 0.1%:

INDICATIONS AND USAGE

Steroid responsive inflammatory conditions of the palpebral and bulbar conjunctiva, cornea, and anterior segment of the globe, such as allergic conjunctivitis, acne rosacea, superficial punctate keratitis, herpes zoster keratitis, iritis, cyclitis, selected infective conjunctivitides when the inherent hazard of steroid use is accepted to obtain an advisable diminution in edema and inflammation; corneal injury from chemical, radiation, or thermal burns, or penetration of foreign bodies.

IMPORTANT SAFETY INFORMATION

Contraindications

 $MAXIDEX^{(R)} 0.1\%$ is contraindicated in acute, untreated bacterial infections; mycobacterial ocular infections; epithelial herpes simplex (dendritic keratitis); vaccinia, varicella, and most other viral diseases of the cornea and conjunctiva; fungal disease of ocular structures; and in those persons who have shown hypersensitivity to any component of this preparation.

Warnings and Precautions

Prolonged use may result in ocular hypertension and/or glaucoma, with damage to the optic nerve, defects in visual acuity and fields of vision, and posterior subcapsular cataract formation. Prolonged use may suppress the host response and thus increase the hazard of secondary ocular infections. In acute purulent conditions or parasitic infections of the eye, corticosteroids may mask infection or enhance existing infection. In those diseases causing thinning of the cornea or sclera, perforations have been known to occur with the use of topical corticosteroids. If these products are used for 10 days or longer, intraocular pressure (IOP) should be routinely monitored even though it may be difficult in children and uncooperative patients.

Employment of corticosteroid medication in the treatment of herpes simplex other than epithelial herpes simplex keratitis, in which it is contraindicated, requires great caution; periodic slit-lamp microscopy is essential.

Adverse Reactions

In clinical studies with MAXIDEX, the most frequently reports adverse reactions were ocular discomfort occurring in approximately 10% of the patients and eye irritation occurring in approximately 1% of the patients. All other adverse reactions from these studies occurred with a frequency less than 1%, including keratitis, conjunctivitis, dry eye, photophobia, blurred vision, eye pruritis, foreign body sensation, increased lacrimation, abnormal ocular sensation, eyelid margin crusting, and ocular hyperemia.

For complete product information about MAXIDEX®, including additional important safety information, please visit: https://dailymed/drugInfo.cfm?setid=603f0bac-16b8-42f5-985e-fb0d73ee284d.

About TRIESENCE[®] (triamcinolone acetonide injectable suspension) 40 mg/ml:

INDICATIONS AND USAGE

 $TRIESENCE^{$ suspension is a synthetic corticosteroid indicated for treatment of sympathetic ophthalmia, temporal arteritis, uveitis, and ocular inflammatory conditions unresponsive to topical corticosteroids as well as visualization during vitrectomy.

IMPORTANT SAFETY INFORMATION

Contraindications

TRIESENCE[®] is contradicted in patients with systemic fungal infections or hypersensitivity to triamcinolone or any component of this product.

Warnings and Precautions

TRIESENCE[®] suspension should not be administered intravenously.

- Ophthalmic effects May include cataracts, infections, and glaucoma. Monitor intraocular pressure.
- Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis suppression, Cushing's syndrome and hyperglycemia: Monitor patients for these conditions and taper doses gradually.
- Infections Increased susceptibility to new infection and increased risk of exacerbation, dissemination, or reactivation of latent infection.
- *Elevated blood pressure, salt and water retention, and hypokalemia* Monitor blood pressure and sodium, potassium serum levels.
- GI perforation Increased risk in patients with certain GI disorders.
- Behavioral and mood disturbances May include euphoria, insomnia, mood swings, personality changes, severe depression, and psychosis.
- Decreases in bone density Monitor bone density in patients receiving long term corticosteroid therapy.
- Live or live attenuated vaccines: Do not administer to patients receiving immunosuppressive doses of corticosteroids.
- Negative effects on growth and development: Monitor pediatric patients on long-term corticosteroid therapy.
- Use in pregnancy Fetal harm can occur with first trimester use.
- Weight gain May cause increased appetite.

Adverse Reactions

The most common reported adverse events following administration of triamcinolone acetonide were elevated intraocular pressure and cataract progression. These events have been reported to occur in 20-60% of patients.

For complete product information about $TRIESENCE^{\ensuremath{\mathbb{R}}}$, including important safety information, please visit: <u>https://dailymed.nlm.nih.gov/dailymed/drugInfo.cfm?setid=3f045347-3e5e-4bbd-90f8-6c3100985ca5.</u>

HROW to Acquire Exclusive U.S. Rights to ILEVRO[®], NEVANAC[®], VIGAMOX[®], MAXIDEX[®], and TRIESENCE[®] Page 6 December 14, 2022

About Harrow

Harrow (Nasdaq: HROW) is an eyecare pharmaceutical company exclusively focused on the discovery, development, and commercialization of innovative ophthalmic prescription therapies for the U.S. market that are accessible and affordable. For more information about Harrow, please visit the Investors section of the corporate website, <u>harrow.com</u>.

Forward-Looking Statements

This press release contains "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of the U.S. Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Any statements in this release that are not historical facts may be considered such "forward-looking statements." Forward-looking statements are based on management's current expectations and are subject to risks and uncertainties which may cause results to differ materially and adversely from the statements contained herein. Some of the potential risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ from those predicted include the continued impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and any future health epidemics on our financial condition, liquidity and results of operations; our ability to make commercially available our FDA-approved products and compounded formulations and technologies in a timely manner or at all; market acceptance of the Company's products and challenges related to the marketing of the Company's products; risks related to our pharmacy operations; our ability to enter into other strategic alliances, including arrangements with pharmacies, physicians and healthcare organizations for the development and distribution of our products; our ability to obtain intellectual property protection for our assets; our ability to accurately estimate our expenses and cash burn, and raise additional funds when necessary; risks related to research and development activities; the projected size of the potential market for our technologies and products; unexpected new data, safety and technical issues; regulatory and market developments impacting compounding pharmacies, outsourcing facilities and the pharmaceutical industry; competition; and market conditions. These and additional risks and uncertainties are more fully described in Harrow's filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, including its Annual Report on Form 10-K and its Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q. Such documents may be read free of charge on the SEC's website at www.sec.gov. Undue reliance should not be placed on forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date they are made. Except as required by law, Harrow undertakes no obligation to update any forward-looking statements to reflect new information, events, or circumstances after the date they are made, or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events.

Contacts: <u>Investors</u> Jamie Webb Director of Communications and Investor Relations <u>jwebb@harrowinc.com</u> 615-733-4737

Media Deb Holliday Holliday Communications, Inc. <u>deb@hollidaycommunications.net</u> 412-877-4519

-END-